GRAND MING

GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
EREEEZRER QT

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(REASFEEMELNERAR)
Stock Code B 13 1X.5%: 1271

Annual Report

2017/18 =«



CONTENTS
H %

Corporate Information

Financial Highlights

Five-Year Financial Summary

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis

Report of the Directors

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
Corporate Governance Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Notes to the Financial Statements

Particulars of Properties Held by the Group

NAEIER

5 mE
hFEHBHE
FERE

ERE AT
EEEWRE

BTSRRI 5
AEERFEMEER

EREBZERER DT 2017/18 FERS

10
15
30
37
51
59

60

61
63
64
66

160

1



CORPORATE INFORMATION
RAEEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Hung Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Lau Chi Wah

Mr. Yuen Ying Wai

Mr. Kwan Wing Wo

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah

Mr. Kan Yau Wo

Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
Audit Committee

Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill (Chairman)

Mr. Tsui Ka Wah

Mr. Kan Yau Wo

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny

Remuneration Committee
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah (Chairman)
Mr. Kan Yau Wo

Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny

Nomination Committee
Mr. Kan Yau Wo (Chairman)
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah

Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Chan Hung Ming
Mr. Lau Chi Wah

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Leung Wai Chuen, HKICPA, FCCA, ACS, ACIS

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

2 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

EHG
PATES
BRILAALE (/E)
BERERE
REFRELE
BAoKAISE A

WL IEBATE
BRRESRE
R ML AE
HEZhE
FRBEYE

EHZH®G
EMERE
REREE (ZE)
RRERE
BERMEE
FRERE

FMEZEE
BRELE (TE)
R LA
HEEEZRE
EREBRE

RHZERE
BRAMEE (FE)
RRERE
RERAE
FRERE

BHEIR R
LA S
BIEESEL

AGEE

ZMZ RS H 0 HKICPA, FCCA, ACS, ACIS

G TS

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands



CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continueq)

REER (&

HEADQUARTER AND PRINCIPAL PLACE
OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

19/F., Railway Plaza, 39 Chatham Road South

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
IN HONG KONG

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISOR
Li & Partners

AUDITOR
BDO Limited

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Dah Sing Bank, Limited
United Overseas Bank Limited, Hong Kong Office

STOCK CODE
1271

COMPANY WEBSITE
www.grandming.com.hk

Aok AR R B

FE LR HIR BB B 395k
HIEAE192

TRk B B E

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Ji% Oy 18 5 % GE IR A v 0 IR
BEEFELEERAERAR

BB BT 2/ AKEBERI183H
AR 02218

T AN

F M REMT

23 4]

BB ERREHAEEMERAR
FERARRAT
AFRTER DA
RERTEBHT

B 4 AR 5%
1271

2 i) 48 ik

www.grandming.com.hk

EPREBZERER LT 201718 EERS

3



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
BBREE

Note 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Mz —B-NE —E—+% -T-xE¥ —T-HF -—T-QNOF
Revenue (Hk$ 000) W& (FET)
a. Construction a. % 1,274,528 912,789 822,377 704,126 348,300
b. Property leasing b ERE 149,405 142,952 145,202 142,048 135,763
¢. Property development CUERR = = = - -
1,423,933 1,055,741 967,579 846,174 484,063
Segment results (4k$000) PBEE(FET)
a. Construction a B 172,882 88,536 72,693 66,142 70,326
b. Property leasing b.y%EME 89,013 86,679 89,824 92,264 90,285
¢. Property development CUEER (15,884) (3,484) (18) (35) =
246,011 171,731 162,499 158,371 160,611
Underlying profit (+k$000) BB (FET) () 171,292 120,297 116,734 116,090 107,544
Current ratio B =E 3.79 489 1.07 1.19 1.84
Gearing ratio BEREELE (i) 129.7% 100.1% 43.3% 50.7% 45.1%
Net gearing ratio FEREELE (i) 116.0% 83.1% 36.3% 42.3% 31.2%
Return on equity e NEE: 6.2% 7.7% 16.2% 15.5% 12.2%
Note: B & -

() Underlying profit is arrived at by excluding the effect of changes in fair ()  EEEF IR AREFEFINBIREYE 2 DN FESE
value of investment properties from profit for the year &)

(i)  Gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing borrowings divided by (i) EAABEL KA BERG AR EERBRIA
shareholders’ equity and multiplied by 100% 100%

(i) Net gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing borrowings net of cash (i) FEARBBELRIENBRIRS MIRITFERE 2 45
and bank balances, divided by shareholders’ equity and multiplied by 100% BE bR DA R SR i 2 7 3 BA100%
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFEHBHEE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
“E-N\§f T2+t ZE—"E CZT-Hf =ZT-@mF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TEL TET TEL
RESULTS E
For the year ended 31 March BE=ZA=1+—HIFE
Revenue 2§ 1,423,933 1,055,741 967,579 846,174 484,063
Profit before taxation BRE AR A 205,395 227,318 427110 352,149 463,402
Profit for the year RERF 171,787 203,020 401,929 327,813 438,482
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
AS at 31 March R=EA=+—H
Total assets BEE 6,725,357 5,540,781 3,829,800 3,482,638 2,801,509
Total liabilities Baf 3,960,253 2,905,828 1,356,073 1,362,729 981,080
Total equity B 2,765,104 2,634,953 2473727 2,119,909 1,820,429
EREMERERAT 201718 FEHRS 5



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFERE

Chan Hung Ming
BR 7L 8A

Chairman

FE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am delighted
to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2018 (“FY
2017/18").

RESULTS

The Group's underlying profit for FY 2017/18, excluding the fair value
gains on investment properties, amounted to HK$171.3 million,
representing an increase of HK$51.0 million or 42.4% over HK$120.3
million for the corresponding year ended 31 March 2017 (“FY 2016/17").
Underlying earnings per share was 24.1 HK cents (2017: 16.9 HK cents
as adjusted for the bonus issue in August 2017).

The Group's profit for the year was HK$171.8 million, inclusive of the
increase in fair value of investment properties of HK$0.5 million (2017:
HK$82.7 million), representing a decrease of HK$31.2 million or 15.4%
when compared with that of HK$203.0 million for FY 2016/17. Earnings
per share was 24.2 HK cents (2017: 28.6 HK cents as adjusted for the
bonus issue in August 2017).
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)

ER®|E (&

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends payment of a final dividend of 5.8 HK cents
per share to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 3 August
2018. Subject to approval by the Shareholders in the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the proposed final dividend warrants is expected to be
dispatched to Shareholders on 15 August 2018.

Together with the interim dividend of 4.0 HK cents per share already
paid, the total dividends for FY 2017/18 will amount to 9.8 HK cents per
share, representing a payout ratio of approximately 40.6% (based on
the total dividends for FY 2017/18 and the Group's profit for the year
excluding the increase in fair value of investment properties).

REVIEW OF OPERATION

Construction

The Group's construction business primarily consists of provision
of building services as a main contractor in property development
projects for prominent local developers, as well as existing building
alterations, renovation and fitting-out works services. Revenue derived
from the construction business increased by approximately 39.6% or
HK$361.7 million, from approximately HK$912.8 million for FY 2016/17
to approximately HK$1,274.5 million for FY 2017/18. Increase in
revenue is mainly attributed to increasing revenue recognised from the
construction project at Kai Tak, Kowloon for which the construction work
commenced in June 2016 and was in full swing during the year under
review.

As at 31 March 2018, the gross contract value of the construction
projects in progress amounted to approximately HK$1.48 billion.

Data Centre Premises Leasing

The Group owned, developed and leased out raised floor space of two
high-tier data centre buildings which were purposely built for data
centre use and feature high level of reliability, redundancy and security.
The first high-tier data centre, namely iTech Tower 1, maintained a
high occupancy rates and contributed a stable rental income inflow
to the Group. The second high-tier data centre, namely iTech Tower 2,
also operated well with satisfactory occupancy rates and contributed
increasing revenue stream to the Group progressively.

Revenue derived from data centre premises leasing business improved
by approximately 3.0% or HK$4.2 million, from approximately HK$140.8
million for FY 2016/17 to approximately HK$145.0 million for FY 2017/18,
mainly driven by the increasing occupancy rates from iTech Tower 2
during the year under review.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)

ER®|E (&)

Property Development

The Group's first property development project is situated at Sai Shan
Road, Tsing Yi, New Territories with a gross floor area of approximately
400,000 square feet for private residential purposes. The development
will consist of two blocks of 30-storey residential buildings together with
clubhouse facilities and car parks. The site formation and foundation
works are now progressing. The development shall be completed and
made fit for completion on or before 30 September 2024.

On 20 October 2017, the Group has successfully acquired a property
through the acquisition of the entire interests of Market Rise Limited
together with its wholly-owned subsidiary, Able Business Development
Limited (collectively referred to as “Market Rise Group”), and the
shareholder’s loan, at an adjusted consideration of approximately
HK$814 million. Details of the transaction were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 30 August 2017. The property held under Market
Rise Group is an en-bloc residential building located at No. 279 Prince
Edward Road West, Kowloon, and comprises 18 residential units and
a clubhouse with permitted gross floor area of approximately 39,420
square feet. The occupation permit and certificate of compliance
of the property had been obtained. The property is now named
“Cristallo”. Sales campaign had been launched since March 2018 and
overwhelming responses and positive feedback from the market were
received. Contract for sale of one unit was entered into in April 2018
with a contract sale of approximately HK$48 million, and completion is
scheduled to take place in August 2018.

As disclosed in the Company's announcement dated 15 December
2017, in order to facilitate the upcoming sales of the residential
properties in the Group's property development segment, the Group
signed an agreement to acquire several premises at the basement floor,
ground floor and first floor of No. 39 Chatham Road South, Kowloon,
through the acquisition of Excel One Global Limited together with its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Marvellous Investments Limited (collectively
referred to as “Excel One Group”), for the purpose of establishing
the sales office and accommodating show flats. The acquisition
was completed on 13 April 2018. Renovation works are expected to
commence in June 2018 and the sales office is expected to be ready for
use by the end of 2018.

During the year under review, there was no revenue recorded for this
business segment.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)
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OUTLOOK

With the commitment of the new administration of the HKSAR
government to increase land supply, we maintain an optimistic view
on the general construction industry in Hong Kong. Yet the challenges
of aging workforce, chronic shortage of skilled workers and escalating
wages persisted. In view of this, we will continue to pursue a prudent
strategy in tendering new construction projects to ensure that all
existing and upcoming construction projects would be completed
and delivered on time to our customers and in accordance with their
specifications, and we could attain a reasonable profit margin from the
construction projects at the same time.

For the data centre leasing business, we will keep on investing and
upgrading our data centre infrastructure to strengthen our market
position and meet the changing needs of the customers. Since the cost
of acquiring a bare land or suitable industrial building in Hong Kong
to develop or convert into data centre premises remains high, we will
act very cautiously in investing and developing our third high-tier data
centre. Meanwhile we are exploring the possibility of developing new
data centres outside Hong Kong.

The Group proactively searches for channels to expand its land bank to
strengthen the property development business. Apart from participating
in public tender of government land either on our own or through
joint ventures with other property developers, we are also exploring
other opportunities in property acquisition like acquisition of en-bloc
completed properties or properties with fully consolidated ownership.
Furthermore we will prudently seek diversification opportunities in
geographical area, such as second tier cities of Mainland China where
the land costs are comparatively lower but have strong potential in
economic growth that will in turn lead to a demand for properties.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to the Board
for its brilliant leadership, to the Shareholders for their strong support,
and to the community for their enthusiastic help, and last but not least,
to our staff for their dedicated efforts.

Chan Hung Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 11 June 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEBFNWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's total revenue for FY 2017/18 was approximately HK$1,423.9
million, representing an increase of approximately 34.9% or HK$368.2
million from approximately HK$1,055.7 million for FY 2016/17. Increase
in revenue was mainly attributable to significant revenue recognition
from the construction project at Kai Tak, Kowloon for which the
construction work was in full swing during the year under review.

Gross profit

The Group's gross profit increased by approximately 47.9% or HK$87.3
million, from approximately HK$182.0 million for FY 2016/17 to
approximately HK$269.3 million for FY 2017/18. The increase in gross
profit was mainly due to the increasing revenue and variation orders
recognised from the aforesaid construction project at Kai Tak, Kowloon.

Selling expenses

The Group's selling expenses in this year primarily consisted of
advertising and promotion expenses in relation to the sales campaign of
Cristallo project and staff costs of the sales and marketing team.

General and administrative expenses

The Group's general and administrative expenses increased by
approximately 39.4% or HK$8.3 million, from approximately HK$21.0
million for FY 2016/17 to approximately HK$29.3 million for FY 2017/18,
primarily due to (i) transaction costs incurred in relation to acquisition
of Market Rise Group in October 2017; (i) full year's depreciation charge
in FY 2017/18 on the own-used premises and leasehold improvements
in respect of 18th floor of Railway Plaza as compared to 6-months
depreciation charge in FY 2016/17; and (iii) increased staff costs owing
to salary increment.

Revaluation of investment properties

The Group recognised an increase in fair value on its investment
properties of approximately HK$0.5 million in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for FY 2017/18 as compared to an increase in
fair value of approximately HK$82.7 million in FY 2016/17.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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Profit for the year

The Group recorded a net profit of approximately HK$171.8 million for
FY 2017/18, representing a decrease of approximately 15.4% or HK$31.2
million when compared with that of approximately HK$203.0 million for
FY 2016/17. Excluding the fair value gains on investment properties,
the Group recorded an adjusted profit for the year of approximately
HK$171.3 million in FY 2017/18, representing an increase of
approximately 42.4% or HK$51.0 million when compared to an adjusted
profit for the year of approximately HK$120.3 million in FY 2016/17.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group financed its operations and capital expenditure with internal
resources and bank borrowings. In March 2017, the Group entered into
a facility agreement with a syndicate of financial institutions to obtain
a syndicated loan facility of HK$2,400 million to refinance the then
indebtedness as well as to provide extra working capital to support
the Group's daily operation and business development. As at 31 March
2018, the Group had outstanding bank borrowings of approximately
HK$3,585.3 million (31 March 2017: approximately HK$2,638.0 million).
The gearing ratio (defined as total interest-bearing borrowings divided
by shareholders’ equity) of the Group was approximately 129.7% (31
March 2017: approximately 100.1%). Increase in the gearing ratio
was mainly contributed by the drawdown of the syndicated loan as
abovementioned and increase in other bank borrowings to cope with
the Group's business development.

The Group adopts a conservative approach in managing its cash
balances, which are mainly placed in bank accounts and short-term
deposits with reputable banks in Hong Kong. The total cash balances of
the Group as at 31 March 2018 were approximately HK$378.2 million (31
March 2017: approximately HK$449.5 million), most of which were held
in Hong Kong dollars. The current ratio (defined as current assets divided
by current liabilities) of the Group was 3.79 times (31 March 2017:
4.89 times). Taking into account the cash at banks and credit facilities
available, the Directors considered that the Group has sufficient working
capital for its present operation and future business expansion.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from bank borrowings,
which bear interest at floating rates. The Group had in place a treasury
policy by which the exposure to floating interest rate risk was mitigated
by the use of interest rate swaps. As at 31 March 2018, the Group
had outstanding interest rate swaps with the notional amount of
approximately HK$80 million. These swaps have fixed interest rates
ranging from 1.30% to 1.80% per annum and will mature in 2020 and
2021. In addition, the Group had entered into forward starting swaps
with notional amount of approximately HK$1.57 billion to lock in fixed
rates of 2.10% to 2.63% per annum for 3 years. These interest rate
swaps will be effective in 2019 and 2020.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group had no significant exposure to foreign currency risk as
substantially all the Group's transactions are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. As a result, the Group did not employ any financial instruments
for hedging against the fluctuation in foreign exchange.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2018, bank loans of approximately HK$3,564.8 million
are secured by certain assets of the Group with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$6,004.7 million.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Save as disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements, the Group had
no other capital commitments as at 31 March 2018.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Save as disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements, the Group had
no other contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2018.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed above in note 13(a) and note 35 to the financial
statements, there was no significant events that have taken place
subsequent to 31 March 2018 and up to the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

BEBENWE DT (&

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

On 30 August 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered
into a provisional sale and purchase agreement with an independent
third party to acquire the entire equity interests of Market Rise Group,
and the shareholder’s loans, at a consideration of approximately
HK$814,017,000 adjusted by the net current assets value of Market
Rise Group on the completion date. The acquisition was completed on
20 October 2017. The principal asset of Market Rise Group is an en-
bloc residential property situated at No. 279 Prince Edward Road West,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

On 15 December 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to acquire the entire equity interests of Excel One Group, and the
shareholder’s loans, at a total consideration of HK$420,000,000 adjusted
by the net current assets value of Excel One Group on the completion
date. As at 31 March 218 a consideration of HK$42,000,000 had been
settled as deposit for the acquisition of Excel One Group. The principal
asset of Excel One Group is an investment property located at Shop
on the Basement Floor, Shop A and Shop C on the Ground Floor, and
Shop A on the 1st Floor of No. 39 Chatham Road South, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. On 13 April 2018 the remaining consideration was settled and the
acquisition of Excel One Group was completed accordingly.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies by the Company
during FY 2017/18.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

BEENWE D (&

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had a total of 202 employees as at 31 March 2018. Total
remuneration of employees for FY 2017/18 was approximately
HK$120.2 million. The remuneration policy and packages of the
Group’s employees are periodically reviewed by making reference to
the prevailing market conditions. The components of remuneration
packages consist of basic salary, benefits-in-kind, fringe benefits and
contributions to mandatory provident funds, as well as discretionary
bonuses which are determined according to individual performance of
employees.

The emoluments of the Directors were determined with reference to
their duties and responsibilities with the Group as well as the Group's
performance and reviewed by the remuneration committee of the
Company annually.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Except for investments in subsidiaries, the Group did not hold any
significant investment in equity interest in any other company during FY
2017/18.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this annual report, the Group did not enter into any
agreement in respect of any proposed acquisitions and did not have any
future plans relating to material investment or capital assets.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY 2017/18.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of building
construction, property leasing and property development. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 28 to
the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature
of the Group's principal activities during FY 2017/18.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for FY 2017/18 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 59 of this annual report.

An interim dividend of 4.0 HK cents per share was paid on 14 December
2017. The Board recommends payment of a final dividend of 5.8 HK
cents per share to Shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on 3 August 2018. The proposed final
dividend warrants is expected to be dispatched to Shareholders on 15
August 2018

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine entitlement of Shareholders to the right to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from 23 July 2018 to 26 July
2018, both days inclusive, during which period no share transfer will be
effected. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, all share transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 20 July 2018.

In order to determine Shareholders who qualify for the proposed final
dividend, the register of members of the Company will be closed from 1
August 2018 to 3 August 2018, both days inclusive, during which period
no share transfer will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend, all share transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 31 July 2018.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continueq)

EEEHRE (F)

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and the outlook of
the Group's business are provided in the Chairman’s Statement section
from pages 6 to 9 of this annual report. Description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group can be found in the Chairman’s
Statement, including the financial risks mentioned in the Management
Discussion and Analysis section and note 30 to the financial statements.
Particulars of the events that have occurred since the end of the
reporting period are provided in note 35 to the financial statements.
An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights and
Management Discussion and Analysis sections of this annual report. All
the above sections form part of this report.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business partners
are the keys to the sustainable development to the Group. The Group is
committed to building a close and caring relationship with its employees
and business partners, and improving the quality of services and
products to the customers.

Employees are regarded as the most vital and valuable assets of the
Group. The Group ensures that all staff are reasonably remunerated,
regular seminars on safety for specific type of works and activities and
safety induction training are provided for all employees as well as the
subcontractors’ employees.

The Group stays connected with its customers and has ongoing
communication with them through various channels such as physical
meetings, telephone and electronic mail communication to obtain their
feedback and suggestions.

The Group establishes long-term business relationship with the
subcontractors. Through the past dealings with the subcontractors,
the Group has acquired sufficient appreciation of their expertise and
strengths so that it would enable us to maintain our quality standards.

The Group also places effort to build up and maintain good relationship

with various commercial banks as the Group’s businesses are capital
intensive and require on-going funding to maintain continuous growth.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continueq)
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Company endeavours to protect the environment in which it
operates its business. The Group's construction and data centre leasing
segment have established environmental management systems and
were certified by Certification Asia (HK) Limited to be in compliance with
the requirements of ISO 14001:2004.

During FY 2017/18, there was no material non-compliance in relation
to air pollution, noise control, disposal and emission of construction
wastes. Green office practices are also encouraged in the operation
of the Group’s businesses, such as double-sided printing and copying,
setting up recycling bins, sending and presenting corporate documents
or information to the members of the Board in electronic format, and
reducing energy consumption by switching off idle lighting and electrical
appliances.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of the Company
prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) will
be published within three months after the publication of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During FY 2017/18, no material non-compliance of the laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company was noted. In
addition, discussion on the Company’'s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code is included in the Corporate Governance Report.

DONATIONS
Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to HK$36,000.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continueq)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group is set out on
page 5 of this annual report.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets (including investment properties
and property, plant and equipment) during the year are set out in note
15 to the financial statements.

BANK LOANS
Details of bank loans of the Group as at 31 March 2018 are set out in
note 22 to the financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED
The amount of interest capitalised by the Group during the year is set
out in note 8(a) to the financial statements.

SHARE ISSUED AND SHARE CAPITAL

During the year, the Company issued 64,524,652 bonus shares without
consideration on the basis of one bonus share for every ten shares then
held.

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 25 to the
financial statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 63 of this annual report and in note 26(b) to the financial
statements, respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continueq)
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of turnover of the Group attributable to the largest
customer and the five largest customers in aggregate are 81.0% and
97.4% respectively.

The percentage of purchases of the Group attributable to the largest
supplier and the five largest suppliers in aggregate are 10.7% and 41.0%
respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's
total number of issued shares) had an interest in the five largest
suppliers or customers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association (the “Articles”) and there is no restriction against such rights
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report were:
Executive Directors Independent
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tsui Ka Wah

Mr. Kan Yau Wo

Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny

Mr. Chan Hung Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Lau Chi Wah

Mr. Yuen Ying Wai

Mr. Kwan Wing Wo

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the
time being shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general
meeting, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years. The retiring Directors will be eligible for re-
election. It is proposed that Mr. Chan Hung Ming, Mr. Yuen Ying Wai and
Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny shall retire from office by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group as of 31 March 2018 are set out on pages 30 to 36 of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
9 August 2013, being the listing date of the Company (the “Listing
Date”), and such appointment continued thereafter unless terminated in
accordance with the terms of the service agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 9 August 2016, and such appointment may be terminated in
accordance with the terms of the letter of appointment.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, the Company
has in force indemnity provisions as permitted under the relevant
statutes for the benefit of the Directors of the Company. The permitted
indemnity provisions are provided for in the Articles and in the directors
and officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect of
potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that may
be brought against such Directors.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2018, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ")) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Name of Group
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Number of
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member/associated Capacity/Nature shares held percentage of
Name of Director corporation of interest (note 1) shareholding
rEBREAT BESBEREAR
EEnA HELEES 5D HEntE (77F1) REBABEIL
Mr. Chan Hung Ming The Company Interest of a controlled 478,321,470 (L) 67.39%
corporation (note 2)
FRFLAA S A& PAN/NS REEERER (772)
Chan HM Company Limited Beneficial owner 1 100%
EmEEA
Mr. Lau Chi Wah The Company Interest of a controlled 53,146,830 (L) 7.49%
corporation (note 3)
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Note:.

1. The Letter “L" denotes the Directors’ long position in the shares of the
Company or the relevant associated corporation.

2. Mr. Chan Hung Ming holds 100% of the issued share capital of Chan HM
Company Limited, which owns 478,321,470 shares out of the total number
of issued shares of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Chan Hung Ming is
deemed to have the same interest in the Company by virtue of SFO.

3. Mr. Lau Chi Wah holds 100% of the issued share capital of Lau CW
Company Limited, which owns 53,146,830 shares out of the total number
of issued shares of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Lau Chi Wah is deemed to
have the same interest in the Company by virtue of SFO.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company has or is deemed to have any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations as at 31 March 2018.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2018, so far as the Directors were aware, the following
persons/entity (not being the Directors or chief executives of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations which were required to be notified to the
Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:
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Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest (note 1) shareholding
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RERM A B9 REaiEg (7£1) BRESMATIHL
Chan HM Company Limited Beneficial owner 478,321,470 (L) 67.39%
EmEAA
Lau CW Company Limited Beneficial owner 53,146,830 (L) 7.49%
BEREAA
Ms. Cheung Shuk Fong Family (note 2) 53,146,830 (L) 7.49%
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Note:.

1. The Letter “L" denotes the person’s/entity’s long position in the shares of
the Company or the relevant Group member.

2. Ms. Cheung Shuk Fong, the spouse of Mr. Lau Chi Wah, is deemed to be
interested in Mr. Lau’s interest in our Company by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any
other relevant interests or short positions in the total number of issued
shares of the Company as at 31 March 2018 which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Interests and Short Positions
of Directors and Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company and its Associated Corporations” above, at
no time during FY 2017/18 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or any holding company or any subsidiary of the Company’'s holding
company, a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or
any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any
right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or
any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save for their respective interests in the Group, none of the Directors
was interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete
with the businesses of the Group for FY 2017/18.
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EXEMPTED CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 29 January 2018, Century Wealth Investments Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired the entire equity interests in
Grand Ming Finance Company Limited (“GM Finance”) at a consideration
of approximately HK$501,000. Immediately prior to the acquisition,
GM Finance was owned as 50% by Mr. Chan Hung Ming (chairman, an
executive Director and controlling shareholder of the Company) and
50% by Mr. Lau Chi Wah (an executive Director and chief executive
officer of the Company). GM Finance is therefore a connected person
of the Group and the acquisition constituted a connected transaction
for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As all the
applicable percentage ratios set out in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules in
respect of the acquisition are less than 0.1%, the acquisition constitutes
de minimis transactions pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules
and is fully exempt from independent Shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements.

GM Finance is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and is the holder
of money lenders licence under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter
163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) to carry out money lending business in
Hong Kong.

The Group had not entered into any transactions which constituted non-
exempt connected transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules
during FY 2017/18.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or any entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or any of its
fellow subsidiaries was a party during or at the end the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

None of the Company or any of its subsidiaries had entered into any
contract of significance or contract of significance for provision of
services with the Company’s controlling shareholders (“Controlling
Shareholders”) or its subsidiaries during the year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Details of the Directors’ remuneration during the year are set out in note
11 to the financial statements.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

A deed of non-competition in respect of the Controlling Shareholders
was entered into on 23 July 2013 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”).
The Controlling Shareholders had confirmed to the Company of their
compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition provided to the Company
during the year.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed
that the Controlling Shareholders of the Company had complied with
the Deed of Non-Competition which has been enforced by the Company
in accordance with its terms, and that there was no new opportunity
(as defined in the Prospectus headed “Relationship with Controlling
Shareholders — Non-compete Undertakings”) referred by the Controlling
Shareholders to the Company as provided under the Deed of Non-
Competition.

PENSION SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of trustees. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the scheme at rates specified in the rules. During FY 2017/18, the Group
contributed approximately HK$3.2 million to the aforesaid scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 23
July 2013 (the “Adoption Date”). The purpose of the Scheme is to attract
and retain the best quality personnel, to provide additional incentives to
them to promote the long term success of the Group. Pursuant to the
Scheme, the Board may, at its own discretion, grant options to any full-
time or part-time employee, executives, officers, directors (including
executive, non-executive, and independent non-executive Directors),
consultants, advisors, suppliers, customers, agents and other persons
whom the Board determines have or will have contribution to the Group.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of shares in issue upon the Listing Date, being 40,000,000 Shares (the
“Scheme Limit"). Subject to Shareholders’ approval in general meeting,
the Board may () renew this limit at any time to 10% of the shares in
issue as at the date of the approval by the Shareholders in general
meeting; and/or (i) grant options beyond the Scheme Limit to eligible
participants specifically identified by the Board.

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company at any time shall
not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. No options
shall be granted under any schemes of the Company (including the
Scheme) if this will result in the limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares issuable upon exercise of the options
granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company to each eligible participant in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any further grant of options is
subject to Shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such eligible
participant and his associates abstaining from voting.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant subject to the
provisions of early termination thereof. The Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years commencing from the Adoption Date.
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A consideration of HK$1.0 is payable on acceptance of the grant of
an option. Pursuant to the Scheme, the participants may subscribe
for the shares of the Company on exercise of an option at the price
determined by the Board provided that it shall be at least the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (i) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of
the Share.

No options had been granted, exercised or cancelled under the Scheme
since the Adoption Date up to the date of this report.

SHARE AWARD PLAN

The Company adopted a share award plan (the “Share Award Plan” or
the “SAP") on the Adoption Date. Subject to and in accordance with the
rules of the SAP, the Board may make an award of shares to certain
classes of eligible participants as specified in the SAP, as determined
by the Board from time to time on the basis of the Board's opinion as
to the proposed awardee’s contribution and/or future contribution to
the development and growth of the Group. The SAP shall be subject
to the administration of the Board, or such committee or such sub-
committee or person(s) delegated with the power and authority by
the Board to administer the SAP. The shares and other trust fund for
the implementation of the Share Award Plan shall be administered
by a trustee or trustees (the “Share Award Plan trustee”, or the “SAP
trustee”) to be appointed by the Company. Under the SAP the Board
shall determine the eligibility of the eligible participants and the number
of shares to be awarded (the “Awarded Shares”) and notify the SAP
trustee of the making of awards. The SAP trustee shall then set aside
the appropriate number of the Awarded Shares pending the transfer
and vest to the relevant participants out of a pool of shares which shall
comprise of, among others, shares either (1) (i) transferred to it from any
person (other than the Group) by way of gift; or (i) purchased by the SAP
trustee out of the funds received by the SAP trustee by way of gift or
for nominal consideration; (2) subscribed for or purchased by the Share
Award Plan trustee out of the funds allocated by the Board out of the
Group’'s resources (“Group’s Contribution”), subject to the terms and
conditions of the rules of the SAP; (3) purchased by the SAP trustee by
utilising any surplus gift contribution, or the net proceeds of the sale of
the relevant nil-paid rights, options or warrants allocated to it in respect
of the Awarded Shares; (4) which remain unvested and revert to the SAP
trustee in accordance with the rules of the SAP
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The SAP trustee may purchase shares on the Stock Exchange at the
prevailing market prices or off the market. In respect of off-market
transactions, purchases shall not be made with any connected person,
nor shall the purchase price be higher than the lower of (1) the closing
market price on the date of such purchase, and (2) the average closing
market price for the five preceding trading days on which Shares of the
Company were traded on the Stock Exchange. At the beginning of each
financial year of the Group, the Board shall determine the maximum
amount of the Group’s Contribution to be allocated to the SAP trustee
(or via a special purpose vehicle which may be established by the SAP
trustee subject to the provisions of the trust deed to be executed by the
Company as settlor and the SAP trustee as trustee, shortly as “Share
Award Plan SPV") during such financial year, provided that the maximum
numbers of Shares which may be awarded for each financial year under
the SAP shall not exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
at the beginning of such financial year. The Share Award Plan trustee
may also subscribe for new Shares at par or at such other subscription
price as instructed by the Board out of the Group's Contribution if
the Board considers it appropriate to do so. Prior approval from the
Shareholders is not required for the Directors to allot and issue new
Shares under the SAP to the SAP trustee, provided that the Directors
have sufficient unissued shares within the general mandate on hand
subject to certain limitations under the SAP. The Company shall comply
with the relevant listing Rules when granting the Awarded Shares. the
legal and beneficial ownership of the relevant awarded Shares shall
be vested in the relevant selected participant within 10 business days
after the latest of (1) the date specified in the notice of the award given
by the Board to the SAP trustee; and (2) where applicable, the date on
which the condition(s) or performance target(s) (if any) to be attained
by such selected participant as specified in the related notice of award
have been attained and notified to the Share Award Plan trustee by the
Board in writing. Neither the SAP trustee nor Share Award Plan SPV (if so
established and subsisting) shall exercise the voting rights in respect of
the Shares held under trust. The Share Award Plan will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date.

No Shares had been awarded under the Share Award Plan since the
Adoption Date up to the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed Shares during FY 2017/18.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has applied with all the code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules for the FY 2017/18. Details are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 37 to 50.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION
The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed minimum public
float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

KPMG resigned as auditor of the Company on 28 January 2016, and BDO
Limited was appointed as auditor of the Company to fill the vacancy
arising from the resignation of KPMG on 28 January 2016. Save as
disclosed above, there was no change in auditor during the past three
years.

The consolidated financial statements for FY 2017/18 was audited
by BDO Limited who will retire as the Company’s auditor and being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution to this effect shall be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Hung Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 11 June 2018
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Details of the biographies of Directors and senior management as of 31
March 2018 are listed as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Hung Ming, aged 64, is our chairman and executive Director.
He is also our Controlling Shareholder and a director of all subsidiaries
of our Group. Pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Chan is interested in
478,321,470 Shares, representing 67.39% of the number of the issued
shares of the Company, as at the date of this annual report.

Mr. Chan is a co-founder of our Group and has participated in the
management of our Group since 1995. He is primarily responsible for
formulating the overall strategic development and direction of the
business development of our Group. He has accumulated over 44 years'
experience in construction and property development field and 10
years' experience data centre premises leasing business.

Mr. Chan holds a Higher Certificate in Building Technology from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan is not connected with any existing
Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling
Shareholders.

Mr. Lau Chi Wah, aged 53, is our executive Director and chief
executive officer. He is also a director of all subsidiaries of our Group.
Pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Lau is interested in 53,146,830
Shares, representing 7.49% of the number of the issued shares of the
Company, as at the date of this annual report.

Mr. Lau is a co-founder of our Group and has participated in the
management of our Group since 1995. He is primarily responsible for
formulating the overall strategic planning of our Group and overseeing
the business development, administrative and compliance matters
of our Group. He had over 29 years of audit, accounting and finance
experience.

Mr. Lau holds an Honour Diploma in Accountancy from the Lingnan
College (now known as the Lingnan University) and Master's Degree
in Professional Accounting from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He
is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA").
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Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau is not connected with any existing
Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling
Shareholders.

Mr. Yuen Ying Wai, aged 55, is our executive Director. He also holds
directorship in most of the subsidiaries of our Group. Mr. Yuen joined our
Group in 2001 and has participated in the management of our Group
since 2007.

Mr. Yuen is responsible for the overall management of the construction
and data centre premises leasing business. He has over 34 years'
experience in quantity surveying and construction project management
and 10 years’ experience in the construction of high tier data centre and
the related leasing matters.

Mr. Yuen holds a Certificate in Civil Engineering Studies from the
Hong Kong Vocational Training Council, a National Certificate in Civil
Engineering Studies from Business & Technician Education Council, a
Higher Certificate in Civil Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
(now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University), and a Diploma in
Surveying from the College of Estate Management in United Kingdom.
He is a member of both the Society of Surveying Technician and the
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Yuen did not have any interests
or underlying interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Yuen is not connected with any existing
Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling
Shareholders.

Mr. Kwan Wing Wo, aged 50, is our executive Director and chief
financial officer. He also holds directorship in certain subsidiaries of our
Group. Mr. Kwan joined the Group in 2008 and has participated in the
management of the Group since then.

Mr. Kwan is responsible for the corporate finance, accounting, taxation,
investment and administrative matters of our Group. He has over 27
years' experience in auditing, accounting and finance field. Prior to
joining our Group, Mr. Kwan held a management position in a listed
company in Hong Kong for 12 years and was mainly responsible for
its finance, financial reporting obligations, accounting, taxation and
administrative matters.
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Mr. Kwan holds a Bachelor's degree in Accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants of United Kingdom and a member of the HKICPA.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Kwan did not have any interests
or underlying interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO.

Mr. Kwan is not connected with any existing Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling Shareholders.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, aged 65, is our independent non-executive Director
since 23 July 2013. He is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee (“Remuneration Committee”) and a member of each of the
audit committee (“Audit Committee”) and the nomination committee
(“Nomination Committee”) of the Company.

Mr. Tsui has 30 years of banking experience with United States and local
banks, and has held various management positions in corporate, retail
and private banking. Currently he holds the position of chief executive
officer of SME Credit Company Limited. He is also an independent
non-executive director of Oriental Explorer Holdings Limited (stock
code: 430), Multifield International Holdings Limited (stock code: 898)
and Southeast Asia Properties & Finance Limited (stock code: 252)
respectively, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Tsui holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree and a Master's Degree of
Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Tsui did not have any interests or
underlying interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.

Mr. Tsui is not connected with any existing Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling Shareholders.

Mr. Kan Yau Wo, aged 65, is our independent non-executive
Director since 23 July 2013. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company.
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Mr. Kan has been working with Fujitsu's group of companies for over 30
years and was appointed as the president in Fujitsu Hong Kong Ltd. in
2007 and then the chief executive officer of Fujitsu’s South China and
Hong Kong Region. Mr. Kan retired from his position in Fujitsu’s group of
companies in 2011.

Mr. Kan graduated from University of Hull in United Kingdom with
Bachelor of Science (First Class Honour) in Computer Studies and
Mathematics.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Kan did not have any interests or
underlying interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.

Mr. Kan is not connected with any existing Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling Shareholders.

Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill, aged 57, is our independent non-executive
Director since 23 July 2013. He is also the chairman of the Audit
Committee, and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Company.

Mr. Mok has 30 years’ experience in accounting, finance and banking
in Hong Kong and Mainland China with specific expertise in managing
financial and accounting operations, fund raising, investor relations and
executing corporate strategy. Currently he is the chief financial officer
and company secretary of China Education Group Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
0839). He has also been serving as an independent non-executive
director of PF Group Holdings Limited, which was listed on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8221), since December 2016.

Mr. Mok holds Bachelor of Arts Degree in Business Administration from
the University of Washington in the United States and a Master Degree
in Business Administration from the Seattle University in the United
States. He is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the HKICPA respectively.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Mok did not have any interests
or underlying interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO.

Mr. Mok is not connected with any existing Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling Shareholders.
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Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny, aged 74, is our independent non-
executive Director since 23 July 2013. He is also a member of each of
the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company.

With over 20 years’ experience in the field of architecture, Mr. Lee
worked in several architect firms including as a director from 1995 to
2009. From 2009, Mr. Lee has been working for an architecture company
as a project director.

Mr. Lee graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Architecture. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Architects and a registered architect with Architects Registration Board
in Hong Kong. Mr. Lee is also an authorised person within the List of
Architects maintained by the Buildings Department.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Lee did not have any interests or
underlying interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.

Mr. Lee is not connected with any existing Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling Shareholders.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Au-Yeung Yiu Wai, aged 61, joined our group in 1997 and is a
project director of our construction business responsible for supervising
our project managers and overseeing the construction matters. He is
also a director of Grand Tech Construction Company Limited. Mr. Au-
Yeung possesses more than 37 years' experience in the construction
industry.

Mr. Au-Yeung holds a Higher Certificate in Civil Engineering from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University), Bachelor of Science in Building from Brighton Polytechnic
(now known as University of Brighton) and a Diploma in Construction
Management from the Hong Kong Construction Industry Training
Authority. Mr. Au-Yeung is a member of both the Chartered Institute of
Building and the Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers.

Mr. Ng Kwok Fong, aged 47, joined our group in 1998 and is the
technical director of our construction business in respect of our building
design and construction projects and the Group’s risk officer (“Group
Risk Officer”). He is also a director of Grand Tech Construction Company
Limited.
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Mr. Ng holds a Bachelor of Engineering in Civil Engineering from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University), a Bachelor of Laws from the University of London and a
Master of Laws Degree from the City University of Hong Kong. With
dual membership in the Institution of Structural Engineers in the
United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, Mr. Ng is
a chartered engineer of the United Kingdom as well as a registered
professional engineer of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chan Sik Nin, aged 53, joined our group in 2013 and is the
general manager of our data centre leasing business responsible for
such business development and operation. Mr. Chan possesses more
than 14 years' experience in the data centre industry and managed
to succeed major deals in providing high-tier data centre services for
meeting the stringent requirements from customers. Prior to joining our
Group, he was the Vice President of Sales & Business Development, and
then re-designated as the Vice President of Corporate Development
of iAdvantage Limited, a subsidiary of SUNeVision Holdings Ltd. (stock
code: 1686) whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Chan holds a Master of Business Administration degree from the
University of Canberra, a Diploma in Marketing & International Business
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong, and a Professional Diploma
in Business Studies from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University).

Ms. Ngan King Fung, aged 51, joined our group in December 2016 and
is the director of sales & marketing responsible for all aspects of sales
and marketing of our properties portfolio in the Hong Kong property
market. Ms. Ngan has over 26 years' extensive experience in sales and
marketing field of the property industry. Prior to joining our group, she
worked for various listed developer companies in Hong Kong and was
responsible for their development’s sales and marketing matters.

Ms. Ngan obtained a Master of Business Administration from University
of Wales.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Wai Chuen, aged 52, is the company secretary of the
Company since July 2013. Mr. Leung has over 27 years' experience in
auditing, accounting, financial management and company secretarial
matters. Prior to joining our Group, he worked for and held senior
positions in various listed companies in Hong Kong and was responsible
for their finance, accounting and company secretarial functions.
Currently he is an independent non-executive director of E Lighting
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8222), a company listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Leung is a member of the HKICPA, a fellow of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom and an
associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators respectively. He
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Social Sciences from the University of Hong
Kong, a Master's Degree in Business Administration jointly awarded by
the University of Wales and the University of Manchester and a Master’s
Degree in Business (Logistics Management) from the Royal Melbourne
Institute of Technology (now known as RMIT University).

Save as disclosed, each of the senior management and the company
secretary of our Company has not been a director of any other publicly
listed company during the three years preceding the date of this annual
report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CHEAEE

COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company acknowledges the importance of good corporate
governance practices and procedures, and regards a pre-eminent
board of directors, sound internal controls and accountability to
all Shareholders as the core elements of its corporate governance
principles. The Company endeavours to ensure that its businesses are
conducted in accordance with rules and regulations, and applicable
codes and standards.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
Throughout FY 2017/18, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with the applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code as
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is primarily responsible for management of the Group,
including the responsibilities of formulating business strategies,
directing and monitoring the Group’s development. Apart from its
statutory responsibilities, the Board is also required to approve
the Group's strategic development plan and major investments;
review the Group’s financial performance; identify principal risks
of the Group’s business and ensure adequate systems of risk
management and internal control. The Board also delegates
certain responsibilities to various board committees which have
been established by the Board to deal with different aspects of the
Company's affairs.

The day-to-day operations and administration are delegated to the
management of the Group under the leadership of the executive
Directors.
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Board Composition

The Board currently comprises eight members, as detailed below:
Executive Directors Independent
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tsui Ka Wah

Mr. Kan Yau Wo

Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny

Mr. Chan Hung Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Lau Chi Wah

Mr. Yuen Ying Wai

Mr. Kwan Wing Wo

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 30 to
34 of this annual report. There is no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship among members of the Board.
A list of Directors and their roles and functions has been published
on the Company’s website.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy with the aim
of achieving diversity on the Company’s Board. The Company
recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board, and sees
diversity of perspectives at the Board level as essential in
achieving a sustainable and balanced development. In designing
the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, industry experience and expertise. All Board
appointments are based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against a variety of criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

Currently, the Board comprises Directors with diverse backgrounds
and/or extensive expertise in corporate management, with over
50% of the Directors possessing professional qualifications.
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All executive Directors have served the Group for over five years
and all independent non-executive Directors were appointed with
effect from the Listing Date. The term of office of all independent
non-executive Directors has been fixed for a specific term of
not more than three years. The Board is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the Company'’s annual general meeting
in accordance with the Articles.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules
and met the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules of at
least one-third of the members of the Board being independent
non-executive Directors. In addition, Mr. Mok Kwai Piu Bill, one
of the independent non-executive Directors, has the appropriate

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continueq)

Riﬂﬁ%%ﬁﬁ’\$ﬁgﬁﬁkﬁiﬂ£¢ [ES

BEVHENTEETN LT HPEERE-B
43E¢ﬂf?§$ﬁ?aﬁ§ﬁ¢,ﬁﬂ BAER=
FRIEERAN EFFTERERD  EX
BEREARRRRBFAS LERBIE
=o

ARBERETRRIEI0NGE REHTE
LTRAFIAGERESTEEL =02

—HKERBIUFFAITESTNRE -MAESP
—RBUFATES REELLE TE
MARAFEI0QENRE  ABaEZER

professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial BRI BEEER-
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.
Board and Board Committee Meetings 3. HHEGRFEEZEFEH
The Board's attendance in the general meetings, board meetings M2017/2018F EEINES N E 2R =%
and board committee meetings during FY 2017/18 are as follows: EERERREERERMNTHRINT
Meetings Attended/Held
EEL 8 V-
Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Board Committee Committee  Committee Meeting
Exg ERZEE FMzES REEEE RREAFAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chan Hung Ming PR FLBA %5 &= 5/5 - - - 111
Mr. Lau Chi Wah BIREL L 5/5 - - - 11
Mr. Yuen Ying Wai REREXE 5/5 - - - 17
Mr. Kwan Wing Wo Bk A 5E A 5/5 - - - 1
Independent Non-Executive BYEHITES
Directors
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah BRERE 5/5 2/2 11 11 11
Mr. Kan Yau Wo R AEE 5/5 2/2 7 11 11
Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill BEEZEEAE 5/5 2/2 " 11 il
Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny TRBRE 5/5 22 11 17 17
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Conflict of Interest

If a Director has a potential conflict of interest in a matter being
considered in the board meeting, he will abstain from voting.
Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest
will be present at meetings dealing with such conflict of interest
issues.

Directors” and Officers” Liability Insurance

The Company has appropriate and sufficient insurance coverage
relating to directors’ and officers’ liability to indemnify the
Directors and senior management against any potential liabilities
arising from the Company’s business activities for which such
Directors and senior management may be held liable.

Directors’ Time Commitments and Trainings

The Company has received confirmation from each Director that
he had sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company
for the year. The Directors have disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices they held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies and
organisations and an indication of the time involved. They are
reminded to notify the Company in a timely manner of any
changes of such information. All Directors are encouraged to
attend the Board meeting and board committee meeting in
person. For the Directors and committee members who are
unable to attend the meeting, participation through electronic
means is arranged and available.

All Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Hung Ming, Mr. Lau Chi Wah,
Mr. Yuen Ying Wai, Mr. Kwan Wing Wo, Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, Mr. Kan
Yau Wo, Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill and Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny,
had participated in continuous professional development with
respect to directors duties, relevant programmes and seminars,
in compliance with code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code. A record
of the Directors’ participation in such programmes is kept by
the Company. Reading materials on the latest developments or
updates in connection to the Group's businesses, accounting,
regulatory and corporate governance aspects were provided
to the Directors. They also received monthly financial highlights
provided by the management.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

The chairman and the chief executive officer are currently two separate
positions held by Mr. Chan Hung Ming and Mr. Lau Chi Wah respectively
with clear distinction in responsibilities.

Mr. Chan Hung Ming, being the chairman, is responsible for the
management and leadership of the Board to formulate overall strategies
and business development directions for the Group, to ensure that
adequate, complete and reliable information is provided to all Directors
in a timely manner, and to ensure that the issues raised at the Board
meetings are explained appropriately.

Mr. Lau Chi Wah, being the chief executive officer, is responsible for
the daily operations of the Group and the implementation of business
policies, objectives and plans as formulated and adopted by the Board,
and is accountable to the Board for the overall operation of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties. Given below are the main corporate governance duties of the
Board:

(i)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(i)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the
Company;

(i) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group
and the Directors; and

(V) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

The Board had reviewed the corporate governance matters of the
Company for FY 2017/18. The Company had complied with the
principles and applicable code provisions of the CG Code.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Group's affairs and discharging
its functions. Sufficient resources are provided to enable the Board
committees to undertake their specific role.

42

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 23 July
2013 with written terms of reference in compliance to Rule 3.25
of the Listing Rules. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available on the website of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, (i) making recommendation to the Board on
the policy and structure for Directors and senior management;
(i) reviewing and approving the management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goal and
objective; (iii) making recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior
management and remuneration of non-executive Directors;
and (iv) ensuring none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee consists of all four
independent non-executive Directors. The current members are
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah (chairperson), Mr. Kan Yau Wo, Mr. Mok Kwai Puli
Bill and Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny.

During FY 2017/18, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting to review the remuneration policy and structure
of the Directors and senior management, review and make
recommendations to the Board on the annual emoluments of the
Directors and other related matters.

Details of remuneration of Directors and senior management are
set out in note 11 and 12 to the financial statements respectively.
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 23 July 2013
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among others,
() making recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditors; (i) reviewing
the financial statements, risk management and internal control
systems; and (iii) overseeing the financial reporting and the
effectiveness of the internal control procedures. The Audit
Committee consists of all four independent non-executive
Directors. The current members are Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill
(chairperson), Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, Mr. Kan Yau Wo and Mr. Lee
Chung Yiu Johnny. Mr. Mok holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during FY 2017/18.
The committee members also met in separate session with the
external auditor without the presence of executive Directors.

The work of the Audit Committee during the year included:

(i) reviewed the audited financial statements and annual results
announcement for the year ended 31 March 2017,

(i) reviewed the unaudited financial statements and interim
results announcement for the six months ended 30
September 2017; and

(il reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group'’s risk
management and internal controls system for FY2017/18
based on the assessments made by the Group Risk Officer
and the review report undertaken by the internal auditor of
the Group (the “Internal Auditor”).

The Group's audited financial statements and annual results
announcement for FY 2017/18 were reviewed by the Audit
Committee on 11 June 2018.
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3.  Nomination Committee
The Company established the Nomination Committee on 23 July
2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Listing Rules. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are available on the website of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on regular basis, to
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The Nomination
Committee consists of all four independent non-executive
Directors. The current members are Mr. Kan Yau Wo (chairperson),
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill and Mr. Lee Chung Yiu
Johnny.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during FY 2017/18
to review the size and composition and diversity of the Board by
taking into account the necessary balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business development of
the Group and for effective leadership.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in the Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors
by the Company, all Directors confirmed their compliance with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout FY 2017/18.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare
the financial statements that give a true and fair view of the Group's
financial position and of its financial performance and cash flow
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the
Companies Ordinance (Cap 622) and the applicable disclosures
provisions of the Listing Rules. The management provides information
and explanation to the Board to enable it to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other decisions by the Board.
Accordingly, appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied
consistently, and judgements and estimates made by the management
for financial reporting purpose are prudent and reasonable.
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The responsibilities of the external auditor for the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
on pages 51 to 58 of this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services provided
by the Company’s external auditor to the Group during FY 2017/18 are
approximately HK$895,000 (2017: HK$815,000) and HK$117,000 (2017:
HK$234,000) respectively. The non-audit services mainly include the
Group's tax reporting services.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and
effective system of internal controls and risk management within
the Group, and reviewing its operational adequacy and effectiveness
through the Audit Committee.

The Board has identified the top risks of the Group and determined how
much risk the Board is willing to take to achieve the Group’s strategic
objectives. In addition, the Group established a risk management
system based on the “Three Lines of Defence” model. Each business
unit is required to identify and manage risks on a day-to-day basis as
the first line of defence. The Group Risk Officer, acting as the second
line of defence, provides oversight of the risk management activities
of the first line of defence. The Internal Auditor, as the third line of
defence, provides independent and objective assurance on the overall
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management system.

Each business unit, as risk owners, identifies, evaluates, and monitors its
own risks, and reports such risk assessment to the Group Risk Officer on
a monthly basis. The Group Risk Officer consolidates the results of the
risk assessments and presents to the Board the principal risks facing the
Group and the risk changes at each regularly scheduled meeting.

The Internal Auditor conducted reviews on systems of risk management
and internal controls of the Group over financial, operational and
compliance control according to the internal audit plan endorsed by
the Audit Committee. During the process of review, the Internal Auditor
identified internal control deficiencies and weakness, and proposed
recommendations for improvements and remedial actions with
management. The results of internal control review and management’s
remedial actions have also been reported to the Audit Committee at
each scheduled meeting.
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The Audit Committee had reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal controls system based
on the assessments made by the Group Risk Officer and the review
reports undertaken by the Internal Auditor. During the review, the Audit
Committee also considered the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function and their training programs and budgets.

The Board, through the review by the Audit Committee, considers that
the Group’s internal control and risk management system is effective
and adequate. No significant areas of concern that may affect the
financial, operational, compliance controls, and risk management
functions of the Group have been identified. The systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has adopted and implemented its own disclosure policy
aiming to provide a general guide to Directors and management of the
Company in handling of confidential information and/or monitoring of
information disclosure pursuant to applicable laws and regulations in
compliance with the Listing Rules and SFO.

The disclosure policy provides the procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information by publication
of the announcement to the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange on a timely basis to enable the public, namely Shareholders,
institutional investors, potential investors and other stakeholders of the
Company to access the latest information of the Group, unless such
information fall within the safe harbours with the SFO.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The
Company also recognises the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which will enable Shareholders and
investors to make informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company are expected to provide a forum
for communication between the Board and Shareholders. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the board committees and, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees are available
to answer questions at shareholder meetings. The Company’s external
auditor is also invited to attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and
content of the Independent Auditor’s Report.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.grandming.com.hk, where information and updates on the
Group's business developments and operations, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access.

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication policy
which is posted on the Company’s website and will review it on a
regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

1. Convening Extraordinary General Meetings (“EGM”)
The following procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM of
the Company are prepared in accordance with the Articles:

()  One or more Shareholders (“Requisitionist(s)”) holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of
voting at general meetings, shall have the right, by written
notice, to require an EGM to be called by the directors for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
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(i) Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company by post to the
Company's headquarter in Hong Kong at 19/F, Railway Plaza,
39 Chatham Road South, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong,
or by email to info@grandming.com.hk.

(i) The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition.

(iv) If the Board fails to proceed to convene the EGM within
21 days of such deposit, the Requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’

Meetings
(i) Proposal for election of a person other than a Director as a
Director:

A shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring
Director (“Candidate”) for election as a Director at a
general meeting by lodging the following documents at
the headquarter of the Company in Hong Kong or the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services limited, at level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong:

(@ a written notice (“Proposal Notice”) of the intention to
propose the Candidate for election as a Director, which
must (i) state the information of the Candidate as
required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, which is
available on the Stock Exchange's website (www.hkex.
com.hk) and (ii) must be signed by Shareholder; and

(b) a written notice (“Consent Notice”) by the Candidate,
which must (i) indicate his/her willingness to be
elected as a Director and consent to the publication
of his/her personal information as required by Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (ii) must be signed by
the Candidate.
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The Proposal Notice and the Consent Notice shall be lodged
for a period of at least 7 clear days commencing no earlier
than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting and ending no later than 7 clear days before the
date of such general meeting.

Other Proposals:

If a Shareholder wishes to make other proposals (the
“Proposal(s)”) at a general meeting, he/she may lodge
a written request, duly signed, at the head office of the

Company in Hong Kong.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the
nature of the Proposal as follows:

(1) Notice of not less than 21 clear days and not less
than 20 clear business days in writing if the Proposal
requires approval in an annual general meeting of the
Company.

(2)  Notice of not less than 21 clear days and not less
than 10 clear business days in writing if the Proposal
requires approval by way of a special resolution in an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

(3)  Notice of not less than 14 clear days and not less
than 10 clear business days in writing if the Proposal
requires approval by way of an ordinary resolution in
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.
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3. Procedures for Directing Shareholders” Enquiries to the
Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries in writing with their
detailed contact information to the company secretary of the
Company or the Board either by:

(i)  Post to the Company’s headquarter in Hong Kong at 19/F,
Railway Plaza, 39 Chatham Road South, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong; or

(i Email to info@grandming.com.hk

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During FY 2017/18, the Company did not amend its constitutional
documents.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the chairman, the Board and the board
committees by ensuring good information flow and Board policy and
procedures are followed. The company secretary is an employee of the
Company and is appointed by the Board. The company secretary reports
to the chairman and chief executive officer. All directors may call upon
him for advice and assistance at any time in respect of his duties. The
company secretary obtained a practitioner’s endorsement of The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with the Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules. The biographical details of the company secretary
are shown on page 36 of this annual report.
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To the shareholders of Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Grand
Ming Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 59 to 159, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT (Continued)

BYRBE®RE (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. The key audit matter identified in our audit is
valuation of investment properties and recognition on contract revenue
and costs.

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties mainly consist of two high-tier data centres,
namely iTech Tower 1 and iTech Tower 2 (the “Data Centres”). As
disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements, the carrying value of
the Group's investment properties amounted to HK$3,627,300,000 as at
31 March 2018 representing 53.9% of the Group’s total assets. During
the year ended 31 March 2018, an increase in fair values of investment
properties was HK$495,000, representing 0.3% of the Group's profit for
the year.

As disclosed in note 15(a) to the financial statements, an independent
firm of qualified professional valuers (the “Valuers”) was engaged to
perform the valuation and the discounted cash flow method of the
income approach was used to determine the fair value of the Data
Centres. Details of the valuation approach are disclosed in the note
5(@) to the financial statements. This method involves the making of
assumptions, which involve judgements, including estimated market
rents, stabilised occupancy rates, terminal capitalisation rates as well as
discount rates.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

BYRBE®RE (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continuea)

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

our responses:

Our procedures in relation to assessing the appropriateness of valuation
of investment properties included:

- Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
Valuers;

- Performing analysis on the reasonableness of the prospective
cash flows input to evaluate the results on the valuation;

- Using auditor’s expert to assist in assessing the valuation
methodology and key assumptions used by the Valuers;

- Assessing the appropriateness and consistency of the use of the
valuation methodology with relevant accounting requirements and
industry norms; and

- Evaluating the reasonableness of key assumptions applied in
the valuation, in particular capitalisation rates, by comparing
them with historical rates and available market data, taking into
consideration comparability with the assistance of our internal
valuation specialists.

Recognition on contract revenue and costs

As disclosed in note 7 to the financial statements, revenue derived from
building construction for the year ended 31 March 2018 amounted to
HK$1,274,528,000, representing 89.5% of the Group's revenue.

Contract revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the stage of completion, which is established by reference
to the construction works certified by independent surveyors. Contract
costs are recognised as an expense by reference to the percentage
of completion at the end of the reporting period and the forecasted
costs to completion of the contract. Details of the Group’s accounting
policy is disclosed in note 4(k) and 4(s)(i) to the financial statements. This
recognition method involves the making of assumptions, which involve
judgements, including estimated percentage of work performed and the
reasonableness and accuracy of forecasted costs to complete.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT (Continued)

BYRBE®RE (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continuea)

Recognition on contract revenue and costs (Continued)

our responses:

Our procedures in relation to assessing the appropriateness of revenue
recognition on building construction and related costs included:

- Examining the terms and conditions of all key contracts and
variation orders, such as contract sum, construction period,
performance obligations of the Group, payment schedule,
retention etc;

- Validating the stage of completion adopted by management to the
position set out in the certificate issued by independent surveyors,
including the certified contract work and variation orders;

- Evaluating the accuracy and reasonableness of total budgeted
costs, by benchmarking against the historical costs and profit
margins of completed projects; assessing the ratio of cost
incurred to budgeted costs with reference to stage of completion;
and interviewing the project managers for assessing the
reasonableness of the cost estimations; and

- Testing the controls of the Group over its process to record
contract revenue and costs, including review and approval
procedures on the preparation of project certificates, progress
reports and payments.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises Corporate Information, Financial Highlights,
Five-Year Financial Summary, Chairman’s Statement, Management
Discussion and Analysis, Report of the Directors, Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management, Corporate Governance Report (but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, and the Environmental, Social and Governance Report, which is
expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover

the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

BYRBE®RE (&)

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
(Continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

When we read the Environmental, Social and Governance Report, if we
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required
to communicate the matter to the directors, and take appropriate action
considering our legal rights and obligations.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT (Continued)

BYRBE®RE (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BYZEEMHE (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT (Continued)

BYBRBE®RE (&

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wan Che Bun
Practising Certificate Number P05804

Hong Kong, 11 June 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEBEmK

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-ZT—)\F=A=+—81FE (CABTIIR)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
Notes $'000 $'000
Bt Fr T
Revenue g 7 1,423,933 1,055,741
Direct costs IEEE N (1,154,665) (873,692)
Gross profit EF 269,268 182,049
Other income and gain/(loss), net HiwA ROz (B8)FRE 7 3,759 4,936
Selling expenses HERX (9,.217) S
General and administrative expenses —MEITBAX (29,346) (21,047)
Increase in fair value of WEYE 2 N FELE N
investment properties 75 495 82,723
Profit from operations B HEF 234,959 248,661
Finance costs B 7 B AR 8@) (29,564) (21,343)
Profit before taxation R AT R 8 205,395 227,318
Income tax expenses TSz H 9 (33,608) (24,298)
Profit for the year A EE R 171,787 203,020
HK cents HK cents
A4l AL
(Restated)
(L&)
Earnings per share BREF
(reported earnings per share) (lREFMTRZERER)
- Basic and Diluted —HEARNEE 14(a) 24.2 28.6
Earnings per share BRER
(underlying earnings per share) (BREBZF)
- Basic and Diluted —ERREE 14(b) 24.1 16.9

Details of the dividends payable to owners of the Company attributable
to the profit for the year are disclosed in note 13(a) to the financial

statements.

The notes on pages 66 to 159 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RERBEREMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-ZT—)\F=A=1+—81FE ABTIR)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —EF—+F
Notes $'000 $'000
k=3 Fr T
Profit for the year Agwy 171,787 203,020
Other comprehensive income FEHMZEKE 10
for the year
Items that may be reclassified subsequently & a] 2 #7 77 48 2 1825 #)
to profit or loss: EH -
Cash flow hedges: REmELE A
Change in fair value, net of tax NEEES) - NBRRIE 12,565 1,175
Realisation of cash flow hedging reserve HeRnsY P REEBEER - 6,305
I 12,565 7,480
Other comprehensive income for the year, FEE a2 E U - KT IE
netoftex 12,565 7,480
Total comprehensive income FEEHEKNEHELE
for the year 184,352 210,500
The notes on pages 66 to 159 form part of these financial statements. FO6EI19BE FTH M T BN AT BREK —2pH o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR R R

As at 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RZZE-N\F=A=+—RH UAETIIR)

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+4F
Notes $'000 $'000
it Fx T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Fixed assets EE&E
— Investment properties — B 15 3,627,300 3,586,600
— Property, plant and equipment e E RS & 15 253,858 260,844
3,881,158 3,847,444
Deposit for acquisition of subsidiaries WHEH B A IRS 42,000 -
Deferred tax assets EEHIEEE oc)i) 6,425 2,549
Derivative financial instruments PTEeERT A 23 15,821 571
Intangible assets mREE 500 -
Other financial assets HihemErE 16 13,540 13,884
3959444 @ 3,804,448
Current assets RBEE
Inventories of properties MEFE 18 1,994,145 992,697
Gross amount due from customers EREFEHIEERE
for contract work 17 32,861 49,397
Trade and other receivables JFE UK BR 3k % H A UK SRR 79 360,608 184,781
Tax recoverable A U B 7 I8 oc)i) 92 =
Restricted and pledged deposits ZRE R B EBFR 20 66,144 59,158
Cash and bank balances B RIBITE R 20 312,063 390,300
2765913 1,676,333
Current liabilities RBEE
Gross amount due to customers ENEFAEHTIEER
for contract work 17 1,187 =
Trade and other payables JE A< BR R % HL b FE 5 SRR 21 308,302 218,172
Bank loans SRITER 22 403,703 118,016
Tax payable FERHLIE o)) 16,565 6,932
79757 13120 _
Net current assets REBEEFE 2,036,156 - 1,333213
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAERE 5995600 5,197,661
HREEERERAT 201718 EE®RE O]




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
mERBRRR (&

As at 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
AZE—N\F=A=1+—8 (ABTIR)

2018 2017

—ZE-N\E —E—tF

Notes $'000 $'000

it Fx Fx
Non-current liabilities FRBERE

Bank loans RITER 22 3,181,642 2,520,010

Deferred tax liabilities EERIEA E o)) 48,510 42,556

Derivative financial instruments PTEERT A 23 344 142

3230496 - 2,562,708

NET ASSETS EEFE 2,765,104 2,634,953
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARGEE

Share capital f& s 25 7,098 6,452

Reserves (] 2,758,006 2,628,501

TOTAL EQUITY 48R 5 2,765,104 2,634,953

On behalf of the Board REESS
Chan Hung Ming Lau Chi wah
BR 7L BA E
Director Director
EF EF
The notes on pages 66 to 159 form part of these financial statements. FO6EISIE FTH M BN A Bk — 35 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERS R

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-ZT—)\F=A=+—81FE (CABTIIR)

Share Share Hedging Retained Total
capital premium reserve profits equity
R R EE e REER aER
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Mt T T T T T
At 1 April 2016 R-ZBE-AENA-H 5,866 99,871 (7122) 2,375,112 2,473,727
Changes in equity for 2017: “E-tEREREE:
Profit for the year FEE = - - 203,020 203,020
Other comprehensive income HEthzEks 100) - - 7480 - 7,480
Total comprehensive income for the year FE:EMEEE - - 7480 03020 210,500
Issuance of new shares under the bonus issues RIEARBETMETZHREG 250 586 (586) = = -
Interim dividend declared and paid in respect  2ER RN AEENPHERE
of the current year 13(8) - - - (25,810) (25,810)
Final dividend approved in respect of HEBR E—FERNRERE
the previous year 130) - - - (23,464) (23,464)
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 R-B-t&E=f=+-0K
—Z-tf¥MmA-A 6,452 99,285 358 2,528,858 2,634,953
Changes in equity for 2018: “E-\FEEEH:
Profit for the year FEER - - - 171,787 171,787
Other comprehensive income Hip2Hh& 100) - - 12,565 - 12,565
Total comprehensive income for the year FR:EMEER 0 - - - 12,565 171787 184,352
Issuance of new shares under the bonus issues REARETMET HRE 2900 646 (646) - - -
Interim dividend declared and paid in respect  2ERRINAEENDERE
of the current year 138) - - - (28,391) (28,391)
Final dividend approved in respect of BHEBRE—FERHRERE
the previous year 13() - - - (25,810) (25,810)
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NE=A=+-H 7,098 98,639 12,923 2,646,444 2,765,104
The notes on pages 66 to 159 form part of these financial statements. FO6EISIE FTH M BN A Bk — 5 o
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-ZT—)\F=A=1+—81FE ABTIR)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Notes $'000 $'000
k=3 Fr For
Operating activities ReEEH
Profit before taxation R B4 A g 205,395 227,318
Adjustments for: MATEIBIEL T
— Interest income —F BUA 7 (1,983) (199)
- Dividend income from unlisted securities ~ —JE_F B H LB U A 7 (849) (875)
— Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of —AHEERES 2
available-for-sale securities BAE (EERE) 7 344 (1,075)
- Net foreign exchange gain —E R F 5 7 (175) (6)
— Finance costs — B BRI AR 8@ 29,564 21,343
— Depreciation —ITE 8(c) 7,057 5,248
- Impairment loss on trade receivables — W2 BEEE 8(c) 165 203
- Changes in fair value of investment —REWMERNTEES
properties 15 (495) (82,723)
- Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, —HEVE BEIEREZ
plant and equipment BER () 40 3
Changes in working capital: EEER 2 #E:
— Increase in inventories of properties —EINMERFE (123,521) (968,026)
— Acquisition of inventories of properties —BRWIENE QR
through acquisition of subsidiaries WEMEFE 24(a) (814,017) =
— Decrease/(increase) in gross amount due  —3Fi4 (3Ehn) BIWEFE A& 4
from customers for contract work THRERE 22,038 (23,567)
- (Increase)/decrease in trade and other — (#m),mERERER R
receivables b e Uk R I8 (174,554) 21,201
— Increase/(decrease) in gross amount due  —3&in, Gl ) BN EE &4
to customers for contract work TEER 1,224 (17,292)
- Increase/(decrease) in trade and —&m,/ CRd) BAERR R
other payables H fth fE T R IE 82,733 (548)
cash used in operations REFMANES (767,034) (819,001)
Tax paid B RIE (24,472) (23,210)
Net cash used in operating activities K& EBFAZREFE (791,506) (842,211)

64

GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18



CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (Continueq)

RERTRER (&

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-ZT—)\F=A=+—81FE (CABTIIR)
2018 2017
—E-NF — Lt
Notes $'000 $'000
Bt Fr Tt
Investing activities RETH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB E W% - = & & (115) (4,661)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - KERZEAERIE
plant and equipment 4 6
Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries BUEERT B A R (500) (261,120)
Expenditure on investment properties REMERS (26,681) (62,490)
Interest received B B 1,983 199
Dividends received from unlisted investments E%Zﬁki MEHFHRE 849 875
Deposits paid for acquisition of subsidiaries 2 UM B R Rl ML & (42,000) =
Net cash used in investing activities REFTEBFTAZREFH ~ (66,460)  (327,191)
Financing activities AL E T E
Proceeds from bank loans IRITE RS IE 1,995,794 4,422,723
Repayment of bank loans 1aaaiﬁﬁfém (1,048,475) (2,856,952)
Increase in pledged deposits B EIPF K (6,811) (5,536)
Interest and other borrowing costs paid B F) B K B b g 3R AR (106,581) (70,824)
Dividends paid ERRE (54,198) (49,274)
Net cash generated from METBHELEZHESFE
financing activites 779,729 1,440,137
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRESEEY (RD)
cash equivalents 2 hEEE (78,237) 270,735
cash and cash equivalents FINRERELEEY
at the beginning of the year 390,300 119,565
Cash and cash equivalents FRNESRERSEEY
at the end of the year 20 312,063 390,300

The notes on pages 66 to 159 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
g E e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

1.

66

GENERAL INFORMATION

Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the business of building construction, property leasing
and property development. The Company was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands as an exempted company with limited liability
on 14 August 2012 under the Companies Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
Company's shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 9
August 2013.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 28.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(@) Adoption of amendments to HKFRSs — first effective on
1 April 2017
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time
the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
which are relevant to and effective for the Group's financial
statements for the annual period beginning on or after 1
April 2017:

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets
for Unrealised Losses
Amendments to HKFRS 12,
Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
ISR ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

2%

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(a)

Adoption of amendments to HKFRSs — first effective on
1 April 2017 (Continuea)
Amendments to HKAS 7 - Disclosure Initiative

The amendments introduce an additional disclosure that will
enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities.

The adoption of the amendments has led to the additional
disclosure presented in the notes to the cash flow
statement, note 33.

Amendments to HKAS 12 - Recognition of Deferred
Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

The amendments relate to the recognition of deferred tax
assets and clarify some of the necessary considerations,
including how to account for deferred tax assets related to
debt instruments measured of fair value.

The adoption of the amendments has no impact on these
financial statements as the clarified treatment is consistent
with the manner in which the Group has previously
recognised deferred tax assets.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle -
Amendments to HKFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards
where they are currently unclear. They include amendments
to HKFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, to
clarify that the disclosure requirements of HKFRS 12, other
than the requirements to disclose summarised financial
information, also apply to an entity’s interests in other
entities classified as held for sale or discontinued operations
in accordance with HKFRS 5, Non-Current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.

The adoption of the amendments to HKFRS 12 has no impact
on these financial statements as the Group do not have any
interests in other entities being classified as held for sale or
discontinued operations in accordance with HKFRS 5.

2.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB RIEERRSN - ABTTEIR)

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group's financial statements, have been issued, but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the

Group:
Amendments to HKAS 40

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 15

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSSs 2014-2016 Cycle

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

HK(FRIC)-Int 22

Amendments to HKFRS 9

68

Transfer of Investment Property

Classification and Measurement
of Share-Based Payment
Transactions

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Clarifications to
HKFRS 15) !

Amendments to HKAS 28,
Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures !

Amendments to HKFRS 1, First-
time adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards '

Financial Instruments '

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers '

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration '

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation 2
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
B R MR (45)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZEEASN - LABTTEITR)

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 28

Annual Improvements to
2015-2017 Cycle

HKFRS 16
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2018

€ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019

& The amendments were originally intended to be effective for

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The effective
date has now been deferred/removed. Early application of the

Employee Benefits ?

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures 2

Amendments to: HKFRS 3,
Business Combinations;
HKFRS 11, Joint Arrangements;
HKAS 12, Income Taxes;
HKAS 23, Borrowing Costs 2

Leases ?
Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments 2

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture 3

amendments continue to be permitted
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

2%

70

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continuea)

Amendments to HKAS 40 - Transfer of Investment
Property

The amendments clarify that to transfer to or from
investment properties there must be a change in use
and provides guidance on making this determination. The
clarification states that a change of use will occur when
a property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of
investment property and there is supporting evidence that a
change has occurred.

The amendments also re-characterise the list of evidence in
the standard as a non-exhaustive list, thereby allowing for
other forms of evidence to support a transfer.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 - Classification and
Measurement of Share-Based Payment Transactions

The amendments provide requirements on the accounting
for the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the
measurement of cash-settled share-based payments; share-
based payment transactions; and a modification to the terms
and conditions of a share-based payment that changes the
classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity-
settled.

Amendments to HKFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts
with customers (Clarifications to HKFRS 15)

The amendments to HKFRS 15 included clarifications on
identification of performance obligations, application of
principal versus agent; licenses of intellectual property; and
transition requirements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle -
Amendments to HKAS 28, Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards
where they are currently unclear. They include amendments
to HKAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures,
clarifying that a Venture Capital organisation’s permissible
election to measure its associates or joint ventures at fair
value is made separately for each associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

2%

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

- Amendments to HKFRS 1, First time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards
where they are currently unclear. They include amendments
to HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, removing transition provision
exemptions relating to accounting periods that had already
passed and were therefore no longer applicable.

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets. Debt instruments
that are held within a business model whose objective is
to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows
(the business model test) and that have contractual terms
that give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
(the contractual cash flow characteristics test) are generally
measured at amortised cost. Debt instruments that meet the
contractual cash flow characteristics test are measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")
if the objective of the entity’s business model is both to
hold and collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the
financial assets. Entities may make an irrevocable election
at initial recognition to measure equity instruments that
are not held for trading at FVTOCI. All other debt and equity
instruments are measured at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL").

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment model
for all financial assets not measured at FVTPL replacing the
incurred loss model in HKAS 39 and new general hedge
accounting requirements to allow entities to better reflect
their risk management activities in financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
PSR (4F)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

2%
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)
HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and
measurement requirements for financial liabilities from
HKAS 39, except for financial liabilities designated at FVTPL,
where the amount of change in fair value attributable to
change in credit risk of the liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income unless that would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch. In addition, HKFRS 9 retains the
requirements in HKAS 39 for derecognition of financial
assets and financial liabilities.

Based on the Group's financial instruments and risk
management policies, the directors anticipate that the
application of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS
9 may result in earlier recognition of credit losses on the
Group's financial assets measured at amortised cost taking
into account the estimated credit risk of customers and
other debtors the Group has business with and the actual
impairment of receivables experienced. However, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect
of HKFRS 9 until the Group performs a detailed review. On
the other hand, the directors will assess the business model
in relation to the Group’s investment portfolio at initial
application of HKFRS 9.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
ISR ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)
HKFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue recognition
framework. The core principle of the framework is that an
entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods and services. HKFRS 15
supersedes existing revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 — Revenue, HKAS 11 — Construction Contracts and
related interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5-step approach to
revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4. Allocate the transaction price to each
performance obligation

Step 5: Recognise revenue when each performance

obligation is satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular revenue
related topics that may change the current approach taken
under HKFRS. The standard also significantly enhances the
qualitative and quantitative disclosures related to revenue.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 - Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

The Interpretation provides guidance on determining the
date of the transaction for determining an exchange rate
to use for transactions that involve advance consideration
paid or received in a foreign currency and the recognition
of a non-monetary asset or nonmonetary liability. The
Interpretations specifies that the date of the transaction for
the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on
initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income
(or part thereof) is the date on which the entity initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance
consideration.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 — Prepayment Features
with Negative Compensation

The amendments clarify that prepayable financial assets
with negative compensation can be measured at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income
if specified conditions are met — instead of at fair value
through profit or loss.

Amendments to HKAS 19 - Employee benefits

The amendments introduce a relief to reduce the complexity
of accounting for certain contributions from employees
or third parties under defined benefit plans. When the
contributions are eligible for the practical expedient provided
by the amendments, a company is allowed to recognise
the contributions as a reduction of the service cost in the
period in which the related service is rendered, instead of
including them in calculating the defined benefit obligation.
The amendments do not have an impact on the Group's
financial statements as the defined benefit plans operated
by the Group are wholly funded by contributions from the
Group and do not involve contributions from employees or
third parties.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

2%

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 — Leases

HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede
HKAS 17 “Leases” and related interpretations, introduces
a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term
of more 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low
value. Specifically, under HKFRS 16, a lessee is required to
recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use
the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing
its obligation to make lease payments. Accordingly, a lessee
should recognise depreciation of the right-of use asset
and interest on the lease liability, and also classifies cash
repayments of the lease liability into a principal portion and
an interest portion and presents them in the statement
of cash flows. Also, the right-of-use asset and the lease
liability are initially measured on a present value basis. The
measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments and
also includes payments to be made in optional periods if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend
the lease, or to exercise an option to terminate the lease.
This accounting treatment is significantly different from the
lessee accounting for leases that are classified as operating
leases under the predecessor standard, HKAS 17.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

2%

76

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 - Leases (Continuea)

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS
17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as
operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those
two types of leases differently.

The directors consider that the application of HKFRS 16 will
have no material impact as lessor accounting requirement
substantially carried forward from HKAS 17.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

The Interpretation supports the requirements of HKAS 12,
Income Taxes, by providing guidance over how to reflect
the effects of uncertainty in accounting for income taxes.
Under the Interpretation, the entity shall determine whether
to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or
together based on which approach better predicts the
resolution of the uncertainty. The entity shall also assume
the tax authority will examine amounts that it has a right to
examine and have full knowledge of all related information
when making those examinations. If the entity determines
it is probable that the tax authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment, then the entity should measure current and
deferred tax in line with its tax filings. If the entity determines
it is not probable, then the uncertainty in the determination
of tax is reflected using either the “most likely amount” or
the “expected value” approach, whichever better predicts
the resolution of the uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 - Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to be
recognised when an entity sells or contributes assets to its
associate or joint venture. When the transaction involves a
business the gain or loss is recognised in full, conversely
when the transaction involves assets that do not constitute
a business the gain or loss is recognised only to the extent
of the unrelated investors’ interests in the joint venture or
associate.

The Group anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be
adopted in the Group's accounting policy for the first time
beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement.
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and amended HKFRSs upon initial
application. So far, except for HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
and HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
the Group considers that other new and amended HKFRSS
do not have material impact on the Group’s results of
operations and financial position.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the "HKFRS") and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Basis Of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost basis except for certain properties and
financial instruments, which are measured at fair values as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

3.

4.

718

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continuea)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), which is the same as the functional currency of the
Company.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”). Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised profits
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the dates of acquisition or up
to the dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with
those used by other members of the Group.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interest
and the non-controlling interest are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)
(@) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are
accounted for in the same manner as would be required if

the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests
at initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s
share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if
this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit

balance

(b) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are

considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to

the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

4.

80

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests,
but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss
is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

In the Company's statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 4(i)(ii)), unless the investment is classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified
as held for sale).

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

() Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value at
the date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. The useful life is as follows:

Money lenders license Indefinite

GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

4.

ERE R ()
(b) FEAT (&)

AR BB A R s B M 3 &
BRAREEHRINFRRR AR &
It A SN MR R SRR
SELAR  URBRAEEREE
TEHBBELAR T HIeERRE
SHEE -

e A8 S ) 2K 25 B B A B A 42 o4 - RIIE
REEERZMBARNEZAERA
B I EA MR s E BN B A
R MAREZHEE BEAKBARR
BeVEERE AT ERR  Z2B8
WRASNFEREREEFNATE
% (WER) N ERNRBERRXE
BEENRERAE-

RARRRMBHARNEAN  REHE QA
THERARE R ER RS AR (R
AG)iD)) - BRIEA IR E D BRI IEL
E(HFAADTERFHELENLER
Bl o

M E R (P ERA)

() BIWBZELEENTZRA
BR-REBEHTKRENET
BEZKRATIBWEE B
BE-HR AERAIERFH
ZENEERRANB R EHER
REPRERE B R - Al £ 8 F 5
LA

MEBEAREIR R A A



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

d

Intangible assists (other than goodwill) (Continued)
(i) Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset
may be impaired. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets no yet available for
use are tested for impairment annually, irrespective
of whether there is any indication that they may be
impaired. Intangible assets are tested for impairment
by comparing their carrying amounts with their
recoverable amounts (see note 4())).

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss
is treated as revaluation decrease to the extent of its
revaluation surplus.

Other investments in securities

The Group's and the Company’s policies for investments
in securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, are as
follows:

Investments in securities are initially stated at fair value,
which is their transaction price unless it is determined
that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the
transaction price and that fair value is evidenced by a
quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or
liability or based on a valuation technique that uses only
data from observable markets. Cost includes attributable
transaction costs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
PSR (4F)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

4.

82

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)
(d) Other investments in securities (Continued)

Other investments in securities, being those held for
non-trading purposes, are classified as available-for-
sale securities. At each end of the reporting period the
fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss
being recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the fair value reserve.
As an exception to this, investments in equity securities
that do not have a quoted price in an active market for an
identical instrument and whose fair value cannot otherwise
be reliably measured are recognised in the statement
of financial position at cost less impairment losses (see
note 4(i)). Dividend income from equity securities and
interest income from debt securities calculated using the
effective interest method are recognised in profit or 10ss in
accordance with the policies set out in notes 4(s)(iv) and 4(s)
(v), respectively. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from changes in the amortised cost of monetary items, such
as debt securities, are recognised directly in profit or loss.

When the investments are derecognised or impaired (see
note 4(i)), the cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity
is reclassified to profit or loss. Investments are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/

sell the investments or they expire.

(e) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at
fair value. At the end of reporting period the fair value is
remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, except where
derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge accounting, in which
case recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the

nature of the item being hedged (see note 4(f)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

(f)

Hedging

Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a
hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or the
foreign currency risk of a committed future transaction, the
effective portion of any gains or losses on remeasurement of
the derivative financial instrument to fair value is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity in the hedging reserve. The ineffective portion of
any gain or loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results
in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial
liability, the associated gain or loss is reclassified from equity
and is included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of
the non-financial asset or liability.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in
the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the
associated gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss in the same period or periods during which the asset
acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss (such as
when interest income or expense is recognised).

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the
preceding two policy statements, the associated gain or loss
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss in the same period
or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction
affects profit or loss.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated
or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the
hedge relationship but the hedged forecast transaction is
still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that
point remains in equity until the transaction occurs and it
is recognised in accordance with the above policy. If the
hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, the
cumulative unrealised gain or loss is reclassified from equity
to profit or loss immediately.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fixed assets

4.

84

(8

(i)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see
note 4(h)) to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment

property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction
or development at the end of the reporting period
and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at
that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change
in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of
an investment property is recognised in profit or
loss. Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in note 4(s)(ii).

When the Group holds a property interest under
an operating lease to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation, the interest is classified
and accounted for as an investment property on a
property-by-property basis. Any such property interest
which has been classified as an investment property
is accounted for as if it were held under a finance
lease (see note 4(h)), and the same accounting policies
are applied to that interest as are applied to other
investment properties leased under finance leases.
Lease payments are accounted for as described in
note 4(h).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(8

Fixed assets (Continued)
(iij) Other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 4(i)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as
to write off their cost or valuation net of expected
residual value over their estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value and
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each end of the reporting period. The
useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 50 years
Plant and machinery 3-5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of furniture, fixtures and other
fixed assets have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the
useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

4.

86

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific
asset or assets for an agreed period of time in return for
a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination
is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement
takes the legal form of a lease.

(i)  Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held
under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group are classified as operating leases, except
where property held under operating leases that
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property is classified as an investment property on
a property-by-property basis and, if classified as an
investment property, is accounted for as if held under
a finance lease (see note 4(g)(i)).

(i) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased
asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in
profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net
lease payments made. Contingent rentals are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating
lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease term except where the property is
classified as an investment property (see note 4(g)(i).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR (&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB RIEERRSN - ABTTEIR)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(i)  Impairment of assets
(i) Impairment of investments in securities and

other receivables
Investments in equity securities and other current
and non-current receivables that are stated at cost
or amortised cost or are classified as available-
for-sale securities are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence
of impairment includes observable data that comes to
the attention of the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinguency in interest or principal payments,

- it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; and

- a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of an investment in an equity instrument below

==

its cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

4.

88

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)  Impairment of investments in securities and
other receivables (Continued)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

- For trade and other receivables carried at
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial asset and the estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset where the
effect of discounting is material. Impairment
losses for equity securities carried at cost are not
reversed.

- For trade and other receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition of these
assets), where the effect of discounting is
material. This assessment is made collectively
where these financial assets share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status,
and have not been individually assessed as
impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets
which are assessed for impairment collectively
are based on historical l0ss experience for assets
with credit risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or
loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not
result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(M)

Impairment of investments in securities and

other receivables (Continued)

- For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative
loss that has been recognised in the fair value
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. The
amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised
in profit or loss is the difference between the
acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment
and amortisation) and current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that asset previously
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss
in respect of available-for-sale equity securities
are not reversed through profit or loss. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value of such
assets is recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale
debt securities are reversed if the subsequent
increase in fair value can be objectively related
to an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised. Reversals of impairment losses
in such circumstances are recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade receivables
included within trade and other receivables, whose
recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In
this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the
amount considered irrecoverable is written off against
trade debtors directly and any amounts held in the
allowance account relating to that debt are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged
to the allowance account are reversed against the
allowance account. Other changes in the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised in profit
or loss.
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MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

4.

90

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

- fixed assets (other than properties carried at
revalued amounts);

- intangible assets; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of assets (Continued)
Impairment of other assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and then, to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’'s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in
the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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4.

92

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i) Impairment of assets (Continued)
(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rule, the Group is required to prepare
an interim financial report in compliance with HKAS
34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end
of the financial year (see notes 4(i)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period
in respect of available-for-sale equity securities and
unquoted equity securities carried at cost are not
reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case
even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed only
at the end of the financial year to which the interim
period relates. Consequently, if the fair value of an
available-for-sale equity security increases in the
remainder of the annual period, or in any other period
subsequently, the increase is recognised in other
comprehensive income and not profit or loss.

(j)  Inventories of properties

(M)

GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

Properties under development

The cost of properties under development comprises
specifically identified cost, including the acquisition
cost of land, aggregate cost of development, materials
and supplies, wages and other direct expenses, an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in selling the
properties.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
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(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

4.

()

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories of properties (Continued)

(iij) Properties held for sales
The cost of completed properties for sale comprises
the total land and development costs for that project,
being all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price, based on
prevailing market conditions, less estimated costs to
be incurred in selling the property.

Construction contracts

Construction contracts are contracts specifically negotiated
with a customer for the construction of an asset or a group
of assets, where the customer is able to specify the major
structural elements of the design. The accounting policy for
contract revenue is set out in note 4(s)(i). When the outcome
of a construction contract can be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense by reference
to the stage of completion of the contract at the end of
the reporting period. When it is probable that total contract
costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected l0ss is
recognised as an expense immediately. When the outcome
of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

Construction contracts in progress at the end of the
reporting period are recorded at the net amount of costs
incurred plus recognised profit less recognised losses and
progress billings, and are presented in the statement of
financial position as the “Gross amount due from customers
for contract work” (as an asset) or the “Gross amount due
to customers for contract work” (as a liability), as applicable.
Progress billings not yet paid by the customer are included
under “Trade and other receivables”. Amounts received
before the related work is performed are included under
“Trade and other payables”.
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4.

94

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

() Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment of
doubtful debts (see note 4(i)(i)), except where the receivables
are interest-free loans made to related parties without any
fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would
be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated
at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are

presented as non-current assets.

(m) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective

interest method.

(n) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in
accordance with note 4(r)(), trade and other payables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Trade and other payable are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If

not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
ISR ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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4.

(0)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
in hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

4.

96

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q)

Income tax (Continuead)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities and all deferred tax assets, to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period,
or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of
a business combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case
of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of
the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q)

Income tax (Continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 4(g)
(i), the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using
the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets at
their carrying value at the end of the reporting period unless
the property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of
deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Group or the Company has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions
are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Group or the Company intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

4.

98

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(@) Income tax (Continuea)

in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

() Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities

(M)

GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

Financial guarantee issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the
fair value of the guarantee is initially recognised as
deferred income within trade and other payables.
The fair value of financial guarantees issued at the
time of issuance is determined by reference to fees
charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar
services, when such information is obtainable, or is
otherwise estimated by reference to interest rate
differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made available with
the estimated rates that lenders would have charged,
had the guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group's policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any
deferred income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

() Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities (Continuead)

(i)

(ii)

Financial guarantee issued (Continuea)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised
as deferred income is amortised in profit or 10ss
over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions
are recognised in accordance with note 4(r)(ii) if
and when (i) it becomes probable that the holder
of the guarantee will call upon the Group under the
guarantee, and (i) the amount of that claim on the
Group is expected to exceed the amount currently
carried in trade and other payables in respect of that
guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation

Other provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the
Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR (F)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s)  Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(i)  Contract revenue
When the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, revenue from a fixed price contract
is recognised using the percentage of completion
method.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot
be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will
be recoverable.

(i) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where
an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments receivable. Contingent rentals
are recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are earned.

(iij) Rental related income
Rental related income is recognised on an accrual
basis.

(iv) Dividends
Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the Group's right to receive payment
is established.

(v) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()  Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of reporting period. Exchange gains and losses

are recognised in profit or loss.

(u) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period

in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for

its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

(v) Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or the Group's parent.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
PSR (4F)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(v) Related parties (Continued)
(b)  Anentity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

0]

(if)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(a)

] 04 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

Valuation of investment properties

As described in note 15, investment properties are stated
at fair value based on the valuation performed by an
independent firm of professional valuers.

In determining the fair value of investment properties, the
valuers have used a method of valuation which involves,
inter-alia, certain estimates including appropriate discount
rates, terminal capitalisation rates and expected future
market rents. In relying on the valuation report, management
has exercised its judgement and is satisfied that the method
of valuation is reflective of the current market conditions.

Construction contracts

As explained in policy notes 4(k) and 4(s)(i), revenue and
profit recognition on an uncompleted project is dependent
on estimating the total outcome of the construction
contract, as well as the work done to date. Based on
the Group's recent experience and the nature of the
construction activities undertaken by the Group, the Group
makes estimates at the point at which it considers the work
is sufficiently advanced such that the costs to complete and
revenue can be reliably estimated. As a result, until this point
is reached the amounts due from customers for contract
work as disclosed in note 17 will not include profit which the
Group may eventually realise from the work done to date. In
addition, actual outcomes in terms of total costs or revenue
may be higher or lower than estimated at the end of the
reporting period, which would affect the revenue and profit
recognised in future years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group evaluates whether there is any objective
evidence that trade receivables are impaired, and estimates
allowances for doubtful debts as a result of the inability
of the debtors to make required payments. The Group
bases the estimates on the ageing of the trade receivables
balance, credit-worthiness of the customer and historical
write-off experience. If the financial condition of the debtors
were to deteriorate, actual write-offs would be higher than
estimated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
ISR ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

6.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that are
used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has three reportable segments. The segments are
managed separately as each business offers different products
and services and requires different business strategies. The
following summary describes the operations in each of the
Group's reportable segments:

- Construction: contracting of construction of residential
buildings, commercial buildings and data centres for external
customers and group companies

- Property leasing: leasing of data centres and office premises
- Property development: development and sale of properties

Inter-segment transactions are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar order. Central revenue and
expenses are not allocated to the operating segments as they are
not included in the measure of the segment’s profit that is used
by the chief operating decision-makers for assessment of segment
performance.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s most senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

- Segment assets include all tangible, non-current and current
assets with the exception of investments in financial assets,
deferred tax assets and other corporate assets. Segment
liabilities include trade payable, accruals and other current
and non-current liabilities attributable to the business
activities of the individual segments and bank borrowings
managed directly by the segments.

- Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to income generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

- WKmEkHEAXN2E

g il e
AREEEBEEREAKEENOEET
S R 2 SR AR 5 8 -

AEBE=EARBEI -FELHEASE
BIRETROER MRS - & ETRER
RESMIFLBLEE - A TR AR R E
=Lt Sl E SV

- BE: RINEPREEAREEEE
BF BAFREFREEPL

— PEHEEBEREPLERAEYE
- PEER BREHEWE

DEER S TIZ2ERBLTERIMNBA LI
EEY & M i (8 - AR R U e K B s 36
BRETELERRARUFEDFREREH
DEEMA ML EDREREENE -

SEHE D BERBE D EREERAOEME - A
SESRSEITHRERABRATEREERE
AREDMEENEE BERAE:

- NHEEBREZHANEE FRDE

ENRBEE HEMEE RIENRA
BEREMPREERERSI - DEA
BREER D R E B EIEN RN
BHEN BEER BRI RIER
BRBENED BEEEEMNRITER

CEZE LT
ARBESBELNHZSEETH

==V
=7 HEpe
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
PBHREE (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTEITR)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. JrEb¥RkE (#)
(a) Segment revenue and results (@) ZrEluss M EH
Property
Construction Property leasing development Total
BE NERE NERR H
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

“§-N\F STHF SE-0F STtF ZENF CTLF ZR-NF STiF
$000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T r Tr T Tr T Fr T

Revenue from external RENDEPH Mz

customers 1,274,528 912,789 149,405 142,952 - - 1,423,933 1,095,741
Inter-segment revenue DEREsE 28,565 63,200 21,975 10,189 = - 50,540 73389
Segment revenue Pk 1,303,093 975,989 171,380 153,141 - - 1,474,473 1,129,130
Segment results PEHEE 172,882 88,536 89,013 86679 (15,884) (3484 246,011 171,731
Unallocated net income RARMAFE 4,102 2,752
Unallocated expenses RABZ L (15,305) (10,730)
Net gain on derivative TESBTATKE

financial instruments = 1,110

(mpairmenty/reversal of  AIEHEES (BE)/
impairment on available-  E&JE

for-sale securities (344) 1,075
Increase in fair value of REMELDTFEEM

investment properties 495 82,723
Finance costs BIRK AR (29,564) (21,343)
Profit before taxation BB RS A 205,395 27318
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR EE (E)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB RIEERRSN - ABTTEIR)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities

gy wl e (2)
(b)  Jr k& A S FL AR

2018 2017
—ZE-N\E —EF—+tF
$'000 $'000
Fx Fr
Segment assets DMEE

construction ey 478,882 272,441
Property leasing MEMRE 3,850,607 3,705,189
Property development VIR 2,045,134 1,021,063
Total segment assets BwoEPEE 6,374,623 4,998,693
Available-for-sale securities At S R 13,540 13,884
Deferred tax assets FRIERIEE B 6,425 2,549
Tax recoverable A 1757 18 92 =
Unallocated office premises ROMPAREYE 248,704 255,224

Unallocated head office and ROMBRRIREEEE
corporate assets 26,650 8,041
Unallocated cash and bank balances A9 BIE & RIBITHEF 55,323 262,390
Consolidated total assets MAREE 6,725,357 5,540,781

Segment liabilities PHEE

Construction B 644,902 440,322
Property leasing YEHE 1,149,073 1,162,906
Property development g 1,222,209 838,415
Total segment liabilities woyHEE 3,016,184 2,441,643
Tax payable FERT IR 16,565 6,932
Deferred tax liabilities RERHIBEEE 48,510 42,556

Unallocated head office and AOBRBRAIRLEAE
corporate liabilities 5,560 22,732
Unallocated bank loans ROBRITER 873,434 391,965
Consolidated total liabilities ReEBaE 3,960,253 2,905,828
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
PBHREE (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTEITR)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. JrEb¥RkE (#)
(c) Other segment information (c) H sy E R
Property Property
Construction leasing development Unallocated Total
Bg NEHE E 2B 3t
2018 017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

ZE-N\f “Tt%F ZB-N\F B2t ZB-N\f Tt ZB-N\F “T{F ZB-N\F B
$'000 §000 $'000 $000 $'000 §000 $'000 $000 $'000 §000

r r r r r r i i r T
Additions to non-current  REFEREH HEAE
segment asses 2 18 40257 27789 42,000 - 52 1080 8280 %107
(d)  Geographic information (d) Hul= &R
No geographic information has been presented as all of the HRAEERELEESHERBE
Group's operating activities are carried out in Hong Kong. T U EEFN R ER -
(e) Information about major customers e) ARFEEPFHER
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the Iz R B BRI IR AR S E I 10%H) %=
Group’s revenue is as follows: FunT:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Customer A ZEPA 1,153,455 449,514
Customer B =FB 100,884 * 428,108
Revenue from all of the above customers are generated N EFEEFHKESRAETFES-
from building construction.
* Revenue from Customer B during the year ended 31 March G BREBEFBHBERBE_S—N\F
2018 contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of the A=t BIEFENEBASEREK
Group. = A H10% ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTSITR)

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAIN/(LOSS),

Ze

NET

Revenue which is derived from the Group's principal activities and
other income and gain/(loss), net during the year is analysed as

VeV ER TN T E VAU 708
(i

o AR B RS M A R LA
W3k, (H518) FEA T -

follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
$'000 $'000
Fr FT
Revenue g
Revenue from building construction EFgiElas 1,274,528 912,789
Rental income He A 123,181 114,844
Rental related income e EEKRA 26,224 28,108
1,423,933 1,055,741
Other income and gain/(loss), net Hahl AR Uz (B518) T8
Bank interest income RITH EHA 1,983 199
Dividend income from unlisted securities LIRS BWA 849 875
Net gain on derivative financial instruments ~ $74£ &b T B E - 1,110
(Impairment)/reversal of impairment of A ERSE CRE), BERE
available-for-sale securities (344) 1,075
Net foreign exchange gain SN 3 2 175 6
Others Hity 1,096 1,671
3,759 4,936
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR (F)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB RIEERRSN - ABTTEIR)

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

8. bR/ i i Al

BRBAE B (GFA) AT EE:

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
(a) Finance costs (@) B
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable: RITERFIB
— within five years -~ BN AEFANBEER 74,855 55,841
— after five years -~ BN AEFREBHER 14,841 7,100
Other borrowing costs EMEENA 18,872 11,985
108,568 74,926
Less: Amount included in construction BT ATERZESLN
contracts in progress ekl (7,544) (10,193)
Amount capitalised* BER{boEE* (71,460) (43,390)
29,564 21,343
(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b) BEIRK(BEEEHFH)
remuneration)
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe IERHEMER 116,992 100,264
Contributions to defined contribution FEHFCRIRET B 2
retirement plans 3,184 3,058
120,176 103,322
Less: Amount included in construction BT ATERRESYN
contracts in progress K2R (89,854) (81,844)
Amount capitalised ERbeEE (8,683) (9,474)
21,639 12,004
(c) oOtheritems (c) HftEH
Rental income from investment HEMEMRGHS WA
properties (123,181) (114,844)
Less: Direct outgoings W EEX N 56,423 52,593
(66,758) (62,251)
Depreciation (note 15) e (Hit15) 7,057 5,248
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEUWER R 2 BB EE
(note 19) (H1a£19) 165 203
Auditor’'s remuneration 1% SR BN &
- audit services —EBZR 895 815
- other services —H Ath iR 75 117 234

10

The borrowing costs have been capitalised at the range of 2.89% to  *
3.19% per annum (2017: 2.34% to 2.64% per annum)

2.34%%2.64% ) B AL,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
PBMRNEE (&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZEEASN - LABTTEITR)

INCOME TAX EXPENSES 9. PR X

9.

(a)

Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or (@)
loss represents:

AR A AR AR AR BT A LA -

2018 2017
—8-N\F —Tt%F
$'000 $'000
¥ T
Current tax BN HEA B 1H
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax FARATEBNSHERE
for the year 33,997 22,775
Under-provision/(Qver-provision) BAFERETR, (BEREE)
in respect of prior years 16 (448)
34,013 22,327
Deferred tax ELEBLIE
(Credited)/Charged to profit and loss ~ RAFEEz (FFA), 0k
for the year (405) 1,971
33,608 24,298

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI") and the Cayman Islands, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the BVI and the Cayman Islands.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
16.5% (2017: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for
the year.

REZBRELHEMASESNRA
EHP AEEBABNRBRIEE
KEREBRENTAMAER-

EBFEHBEIREBERFEE {5
FE R H R 3R16.5% (—Z B — &
16.5% )5t & -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR (F)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTEITR)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Reconciliation between income tax expense and (b)

(b)

112

9. FifBiZili ()

90 P Bt 53 04 T 1558 B 2 BBk

accounting profit before taxation at applicable tax rate: Ao il & 5 e A 0 R
2018 2017
—E-N\F —+£F
$'000 $'000
T T

Profit before taxation B B4 B i A 205,395 227,318
Notional tax on profit before taxation, RERRBREFLAEERZ

calculated at the rate applicable a2 BT B 2 BiIR

to the profits in the jurisdictions

concerned 33,890 37,508
Effect of non-taxable income EFRBBANTE (499) (12,772)
Effect of non-deductible expenses TAMERASNEE 3,849 389
Effect of unused tax losses not RERRDABEBEENTE

recognised 3,170 685
Effect of temporary differences not RERERHEEZENF

recognised (6,770) (855)
Under/(over) provision in respect of BEFERETR, (BEEME)

prior years 16 (448)
Others Hb (48) (209)
Actual income tax expense BERABHRAS 33,608 24,298
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

PBMRNEE (&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZEEASN - LABTTEITR)

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continuea)

(c)

Income tax in the consolidated statement of financial
position represents:

(i)

P g i (48)

(© AREBARDLIE WP A B4 -

Current taxation (i) FHHE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
$'000 $'000
Fr FT
Provision for Hong Kong Profits ~ ZNEZ 78 FI| 15 75 B4
Tax for the year 33,997 22,775
Provisional Profits Tax paid BTG (17,524) (15,843)
16,473 6,932
Represented by: HIR -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
$'000 $'000
Frx T
Tax recoverable A B F IR (92) =
Tax payable e R TE 16,565 6,932
16,473 6,932
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTEITR)

9.

114

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 9. B EXH (&)

(c) Income tax in the consolidated statement of financial (c)

position represents: (Continuea)

(i) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

fo o S B AR DU A A I T A A

(%)

(i) EEZELHEEERARE
KRB MR R AR AR T
BIA (BE) / BENERED &

position and the movements during the year are as REMNEEOT :
follows:
Depreciation
allowances in
excess of
the related Hedging
Deferred tax arising from: depreciation Tax loss reserve Total
TEEHE
EEBIERE SRERTE HEEE b4t #st
$'000 $000 $000 $000
T Tr Fr T
At 1 April 2016 RZE-XEMA—-A 33,748 - (1,407) 32,341
Charged to other comprehensive MnEEM2EKS
income = = 1,478 1,478
Charged/(Credited) to the profitor loss 30k / (5 A ) 182 4,560 (2,589) = 1,971
Acquisition of subsidliaries (note 24(b)  WEEHI B2 & (A7z224(0)) 4217 = = 4217
At 31 March 2017 and RZB-t£=A=1+-H
1 April 2017 R-E-tEMA-H 42,525 (2,589) 71 40,007
Charged to other comprehensive MREM2ERE
income - - 2,483 2,483
Charged/(Credited) to the profitor loss 1K/ (A ) B3 4,021 (4,426) - (405)
At 31 March 2018 R-E-N\E=ZA=+-H 46,546 (7,015) 2,554 42,085
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTSITR)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

(¢) Income tax in the consolidated statement of financial

9. BB (&)
(© AREBARDLIE WP A B4 -

position represents: (Continued) (#)
(i) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (i) ERZEEZHELEREE
(Continuead) (#&)
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Net deferred tax assets iR e M BRI R AERN
recognised on the BB A E TR
consolidated statement of
financial position (6,425) (2,549)
Net deferred tax liabilities TEHRE VBN EAERE
recognised on the BEEMIER BFHE
consolidated statement of
financial position 48,510 42,556
42,085 40,007

(d) At 31 March 2018, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of $168,110,000
(2017: $1,770,000) as it is not probable that sufficient future
taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax
losses can be utilised. The tax losses do not expire under
current tax legislation.

(d) RZE—NEFE=ZA=+—H 'BRTK
A BE 2 A B 5 9 7R 2R FE ER B vas 1) DA
HAGFANTRIEAEEE  AEETEER
& P /9 B4 78 85 18168,110,0007T ( =&
—-£ 4 :1,770,00070 ) R ELHIEE
E-RBBIHBEER HEBETS
160 HA i o

115
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
PBHREE (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTEITR)

10. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 10. Hfih 2 i W 4
(a) Tax effects relating to cash flow hedges included in (@) BRI A A2 KB 4R
other comprehensive income 3 v g A 25
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
$'000 $'000
T Fi
Pre-tax amount BR AT & 7R 15,048 7,712
Tax charge MIESZ H (2,483) (232)
Net-of-tax amount BRitieeE 12,565 7,480
(b) Components of other comprehensive income, (b) Al 2 T WA B AL Ay (fL G R
including reclassification adjustments o )
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
$'000 $'000
T T
Cash flow hedges: REeREHH:
Effective portion of changes in fair value F N E MR E R T A
of hedging instruments recognised NEFEEHHERLD
during the year 15,048 1,407
Net deferred tax charged to other HI| S A 2 T U s O SR RE R TS BE
comprehensive income (2,483) (232)
Realisation of cash flow hedging reserve I8 4 i ¥ b Ré % 17 - 6,305
Net movement in the hedging reserve P E fth 2 T Ue 28 I BE SR G ¥ )R
during the year recognised in the REEEFEE
other comprehensive income 12,565 7,480
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

==

P HmRME (&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRRrRIRERRSN - A TTEIR)

11.

DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors were as

11. EHHW

ENSENTEBRES ZHMOT:

follows:
2018
—E-N\f§
Basic salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind Bonuses contributions Total
EXge.
R
ok ENER A BRARGEMR @it
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T Tr T Fr
Executive Directors HTES
Chan Hung Ming R L8 = 2,014 491 18 2,523
Lau Chi Wah FE = 2,014 491 18 2,523
Yuen Ying Wai wRE - 2,020 491 18 2,529
Kwan Wing Wo #oK A - 1,859 444 18 2,321
Independent BUFHTES
Non-Executive Directors
Tsui Ka Wah BRRE 283 - 69 - 352
Kan Yau Wo R A 283 - 69 - 352
Mok Kwai Pui Bill REE 283 - 69 - 352
Lee Chung Yiu Johnny P 283 - 69 - 352
Total @t 1,132 7,907 2,193 72 11,304
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB RIEERRSN - ABTTEIR)

11.

118

DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION (Continued)

)

11. EFHHM (&)

2017
B a3
Basic salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme
Fees inkind Bonuses  contributions Total
E R

e BEMREF TEAL RIRETEMER a5

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

T Fr Tr T Tr
Executive Directors HITES
Chan Hung Ming RN - 1,720 410 18 2,148
Lau Chi Wah BEE - 1,720 410 18 2,148
Yuen Ying Wai RERE S 1,747 410 18 2,175
Kwan Wing Wo Bk - 1,351 300 18 1,669
Independent BUFHTES

Non-Executive Directors

Tsui Ka Wah BRE 249 S 60 = 309
Kan Yau Wo Gl 249 - 60 - 309
Mok Kwai Pui Bill KRR 249 - 60 - 309
Lee Chung Yiu Johnny TR 249 - 60 - 309
Total Mt 996 6,538 1,770 72 9,376

No director received any emoluments from the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the year. No director waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2018

and 2017.

The Company did not operate any share option scheme for the
purchase of ordinary shares in the Company during the years

ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.

REEARBEFTRIAESEETMAHE - 1F
SMBEREEINMBARERNES K
FRRABUEE - B#E_FT-N\FE=F
—tF=ZA=+-"BLFE HEEENRE
KATREEMMHE -

RRBRBE_T—\FR-_T—+LF=H
=+— B L HIRE Y ST RS B AR E
RRBEBAAD
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

PBMRNEE (&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZEEASN - LABTTEITR)

12. EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID 12.

INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

(a)

Emoluments of five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2018 include 4 (2017: 4) directors whose
emoluments are disclosed in note 11. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the remaining individual is as
follows:

T 4 g v W N L % v AR R B T

&

(@) 0.4 e 1R T I A T
HE-—Z-\F=A=+—BUEFE"

AEBAMRSH

MALBREIE (=

T—+F 45)EF HME RN
WE-HBALTHMESEBENT

2018 2017
—ZE-N\E —E—+tF
$'000 $'000
T T
Salaries, allowances and o EREWEF
benefits in kind 2,337 1,389
Discretionary bonuses B TEAT 570 339
Retirement scheme contributions RREF B R 18 18
2,925 1,746
The above individual's emoluments are within the following Lt AT SEELNT
band:
2018 2017
—ZE-N\E —E—+tF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE A
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,001t £2,000,0007T - 1
$2,500,001 to $3,000,000 2,500,001t £3,000,0007T 1 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTEITR)

12. EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID 12. HAEE A L Kom %8 P g

INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT & (&)
(Continuead)
(b) Emoluments of senior management (b) AR P T 4

BRI ENRI20MRENEERT
IS FHMA LM SR TERE
BENMEER THIEENA :

Other than the emoluments of the Directors and five
highest paid individuals disclosed in notes 11 and 12(a), the
emoluments of the remaining senior management fell within
the following bands:

2018 2017

—E-N\F —ET—tF

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A8 N

Nil to $1,000,000 2 %1,000,0007T - 2
$1,000,001 to $1,500,000 1,000,001t 2 1,500,0007T 2 1
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,001t 22,000,0007T 1 -

AEEYEATMNSEEREEMNE
A& (E WA IMAREBE R IA
AEE R B S ERREREE (=T

No emoluments were paid for the year by the Group to any
of its senior management as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2017:

Nil). —tF )
13. DIVIDENDS 13. BB
(a) Dividends attributable to the year: (@) JBIRARERRS :
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
$'000 $'000
F Tt
Interim dividend declared and paid BEIR &I TR E
of 4.0 HK cents (2017: 4.0 HK cents) FR%A.078 (L
per share ZE—+tF: 40810 28,391 25,810
Final dividend proposed after the end R FREHRE EZHIRE 2
of the reporting period of RNERR B AR5.88 L
5.8 HK cents (2017: 4.0 HK cents) ZE—EF 405)
per share 41,167 25,810
69,558 51,620

R EHIRERFIRE 2 REBCE H
AeEREPRERSEE

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
PBMRNEE (&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZEEASN - LABTTEITR)

(b)

13. DIVIDENDS (Continued) . BB #)
Dividends attributable to the previous financial year: (b) B b8 B BUAE FE Y i B
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—tF
$'000 $'000
Fr F
Final dividend in respect of RAFROE R ZATH
the previous financial year, U BRFERARE
approved and paid during the year BFIA.051L
of 4.0 HK cents (2017: 4.0 HK cents) (ZZT—+L5F: 4.08M)
per share 25,810 23,464
14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. TREM
Reported earnings per share (@ HRHEFRZERERN

(a)

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
$171,787,000 (2017: $203,020,000) and the weighted average
number of 709,771,173 shares (2017 (restated): 709,771,173
shares) in issue during the year. Basic and diluted earnings
per share for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been
restated for the impact of bonus issue of shares.

Diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic
earnings per share as the Company had no dilutive potential
shares in existence during the years ended 31 March 2018
and 2017.

BREARFTIBEARTERBRE
FE(R % F171,787,0007T ( ZE—+ £
203,020,0007T ) & F A B 31787 890
8709771173 (ZF — L4
(E5)): 709,771,173 st E - B E =
E—+tF=ZA=Z+—HIFEMNER
AERREERFERARRBEITAMR
VR ETIAES -

BE_ZT-N\FR-_ZT—tF=A
=t HIEFEHRE ARFLEE
BERD  WERESRNESREN
EFER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTEITR)

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continuea)
(b)  Underlying earnings per share
For the purpose of assessing the underlying performance
of the Group, basic and diluted earnings per share are also
presented based on the underlying profit attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company of $171,292,000 (2017:
$120,297,000), which excludes the effects of changes in fair
value of investment properties.

A reconciliation of profit is as follows:

14. BRAM (2)

(b)

A I 3 B 2 A
EBHEANER 2 M EBRIR 81
EANBERFZEHMGBEREDER
FESHZHVENARREEREE
1 2 BT F171,292,00008 7T (=&
—-+4F 1 120,297,0005 7T ) M =+ E 3 [
FF27%) o

A2 BRI

2018 2017

—E-N\F ZE—£F

$'000 $'000

T T

Profit for the year F 3% R 171,787 203,020
Change in fair value of investment BEMENFEE

properties (495) (82,723)

Underlying profit for the year FREE 171,292 120,297
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
PBMRNEE (&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZEEASN - LABTTEITR)

15. FIXED ASSETS 15. [l & & g
Furniture,
Buildings fixtures and
Investment held for other fixed
properties Sub-total Own use assets Sub-total Total
BHC£BR
RENE Nt BRNE HtETEE gt H
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tr T Fr i i r
Cost or valuation: BASEE:
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+FEA—H 3,586,600 3,586,600 259,669 18,268 271,937 3,864,537
Additions NE 40,205 40,205 - 115 115 40,320
Surplus on revaluation EfRRH% 495 495 - - - 495
Written off/disposal RE/HE - - - (50) (50) (50)
At 31 March 2018 R-E-N\E=ZR=1+-H | ,3L627L390, - ,3L6E7L390 77777 2 §9L6é9, - 18L3§3 77777 2 Z8L0927 o 73;970537% i
Representing: B
Cost AR = = 259,669 18,333 278,002 278,002
Valuation fhE 3,627,300 3,627,300 - - - 3,627,300
3,627,300 3,627,300 259,669 18,333 278,002 3,905,302
Accumulated depreciation: ZHFE:
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+ENA—H - - 5,772 11,321 17,093 17,093
Charge for the year (nofe 8(c)) FERZM (HH80) - - 5,193 1,864 7,057 7,057
Written off/disposal fH/HE - - - (6) (6) (6)
At 31 March 2018 R=2-\F=A=t-B - - 777710}957 ,,,,13L1Z9, 777734;547 77777241,17467
Net ook value: REEE:
At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\E=ZA=+-H 3,627,300 3,627,300 248,704 5,154 253,858 3,881,158
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
PBHREE (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTEITR)

15. FIXED ASSETS (Continued) 15. [ E & g (&)
Furniture,
Buildings fixtures and
Investment held for other fixed
properties Sub-total OWn use assets Sub-total Total
Bi-RBR
RENZE NGt ERNE  EtETEE Nt @
$'000 $'000 $000 $/000 $000 $000
Fr T Tr Tr Tr Tr
Cost or valuation: BASEE:
At 1 April 2016 RZE-~EEA—H 3,290,000 3,290,000 127,000 14,166 141,166 3,431,166
Additions RE 81,209 81,209 - 4,661 4,661 85,870
Acquisition of assets (note 24(t) WEEBE (f#240)) 132,668 132,668 132,669 - 132,669 265,337
Surplus on revaluation EfERH 82723 82723 - - - 82723
Written off/disposal RE/ e - - - (559) (559) (559)
At 31 March 2017 R-E-tF=A=+-H o 73,58@6907 o 9,589690 77777 gS‘iéé‘) 777777 1 %25)8 77777 2]19}7 77777 3 ?@531 -
Representing: B
Cost R - - 259,669 18,268 277,937 277,937
Valuation fhiE 3,586,600 3,586,600 - - = 3,586,600
3,586,600 3,586,600 259,669 18,268 277937 3,864,537
Accumulated depreciation: RHHFE:
At 1 April 2016 RZE-"EEA—H = = 1,905 10,496 12,401 12,401
Charge for the year (nofe 8(c)) FERZ (K780 - - 3,867 1,381 5248 5248
Written off/disposal #i/LE - - - (556) (556) (556)
At 31 March 2017 RZF-t#=A=t-B - - ;722 777777 1 1321 777777 1 1023 777777 1Z,Q9§ -
Net book value: REEE:
At 31 March 2017 R-E—+tE=ZA=+-H 3,586,600 3,586,600 253,897 6,947 260,844 3847 444
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

15. FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

(@

The fair value of the Group's investment properties is Level 3
recurring fair value measurements. The movement of these
balances are as follows:

15. W& & (&)

@)

AEBEORANENATEBE =R
AR ATE R EERNED D
T

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —E—+F

$'000 $'000

Fr Tt

At 1 April RMHA—H 3,586,600 3,290,000
Additions NE 40,205 213,877
Fair value adjustment NEERAE 495 82,723
At 31 March R=A=+—H 3,627,300 3,586,600

The fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “Increase in fair value of
investment properties” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or
out of Level 3.

The Group's investment properties were revalued on 31
March 2018 and 31 March 2017 by Colliers International
(Hong Kong) Limited, an independent firm of surveyors,
who have among their staff Members of the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the location
and category of property being valued, on a market value
basis. The management of the Group has discussion with
the surveyors on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed at each interim and
annual reporting date.

BREMENRFEABRRGEABER
B R EMERAFER ] HAMER -

RZZE-NF=A=+—HILFEH
N E—RREZR BN EERE IR
ABF=_MONBALET -

AEBENREMER-_ZT—N\F=A
=E+—BRZE—+F=ZRA=+—H
BB AIERITE HBEEMERER (F
BIERAR (HETIEHRHBELA
EMBEE8 WA EMENBIA
BRIBA T B ERR) EHEEER
B AEEEEENESETHRFER
TEHETHERLGEERREMGEE
FEREZE A ERMET R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

15. FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

(@

(Continued)
The following table shows the significant unobservable

15. €& E (#2)

(%)
THSAREETEANERT AR
g -

inputs used in the valuation model:

Properties Valuation techniques Unobservable inputs Adopted rate/value
M ER* THERYE ERMAE/EE
2018 2017
—E-N\E Tt F
Investment properties
REME
- Data centres Income approach - discounted  Risk-adjusted discount rate 8% 8%
cash flow analysis
—HEHL WAZ-BRBRENENT  ERARERE
Expected market rental growth 3.5% 3.5%

- Office premises

-WMAEME

Market comparison method

s BA

REmEHEEER

Expected average occupancy rate
BRTHLEE

Terminal capitalisation rate
KIEBEAR(E

Market unit sale rate of saleable
area, after taking into account
the location and size factors

FAMLBMANEE W5
EREREE

97% -100%

97% -100%

]26 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

The fair value of investment properties — data centres is
determined on the basis of capitalisation of discounted cash
flow analysis by discounting a projected cash flow series
associated with the properties using risk-adjusted discount
rates. The valuation takes into account expected market
rental growth and occupancy rates of the properties. The
discount rates used have been adjusted for the quality and
location of the buildings and the tenant credit quality. The fair
value measurement of investment properties — data centres
is positively correlated to the expected market rental growth
and the occupancy rate and negatively correlated to the risk-
adjusted discount rate and terminal capitalisation rate.

4.5% 4.5%
$20,215 per $19,110 per
square feet square feet

B¥HER BEAR
20,2157 19,1107C

REVME-BEPOLZATFEDIRE
MIRASREEMMENNEE  BHES
I AGE R AR R B R R R BRI R
YMEMEBRN—ZRIFEARESRE - AE
ERIZEMENEMT IS S IEIE
REEE - FERANMRERERAEEEAR
ENEERMHAREFNEERR
R -REVE-BEP LR FER
BEHEBEHMSHESERE B RKIE
bo o T B B R EE RE IR R R R B AL
KRR



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

15. FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

(@

(Continued)

The fair value of investment properties — office premises is
determined on the basis of assuming sale of the property
interest in its existing state by making reference to
comparable sale transactions as available in the relevant
market. The valuation is subject to suitable adjustments
between the subject property and the comparable
properties. The fair value measurement of investment
properties — office premises is positively correlated to the
market unit sale rate of saleable area.

15. W& & (&)

@)

(%)
RENE-PREPRZ2 R FETIR
FYMERBAENN THE - L2 IRHER
MZALEHER 5 - TRME 2 (A
BRI BMEZEIELEEHE - RE
ME-MREME 2 AP EFEETIS
EREEEEKEL-

The Group leases out a number of building facilities under b AEBERECLHEFALBASETE
operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial period FRE-ZEHE—RUTR/RHA-ZE
of 2 to 20 years, with an option to renew the lease after that ZHEF UHBEERLRREERY
date at which time all terms are renegotiated. Ry 28 3 175 P PR B {6 K o
All properties held under operating leases that would FrEMEAKERETFFEEEE
otherwise meet the definition of investment property are MmITEAEREMEZERTGLE
classified as investment properties. RILEME-
The Group's total future minimum lease payments under REBBRBIIHELEHEENB %
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows: R REREERIBRZENAT
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —FE—+F
$'000 $'000
Fr Fr
Within 1 year —FR 125,217 118,718
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREZFA 124,203 121,087
After 2 year but within 5 years ZFBERFA 187,081 177,838
After 5 years hF & 240,903 182,271
677,404 599,914
The Group's buildings held for own use and investment © AEBFMBEEAMERIEEDMESAM
properties are situated in Hong Kong and held under REBERAREBROFS -
medium-term leases.
The Group's buildings held for own use and investment d AEBFMEERVERKEEDEDE

properties were pledged against bank loans, details of which
are set out in note 22(a).

HIHABSRITER - B B BENH
F22(a) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB RIEERRSN - ABTTEIR)
16. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

16. At < ik & e

2018 2017
—ZE2-N\EF —E—tF
$'000 $'000
FoT FiT
Available-for-sale securities, AIMHERS BWMEMBIELT
quoted but unlisted 13,540 13,884

The available-for-sale securities were pledged as security for the
bank loans granted to the Group (note 22(a)).

17. GROSS AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS FOR 17.

AR (B 5E22() ) °

AHHERFCEREARTAKERITE

WEW,EAT B P A TRBHE

CONTRACT WORK
2018 2017
—E-N\EF ZE—+F
$'000 $'000
Fr FT
Gross amount due from customers for EWEFESHNIREE
contract work
Contract costs incurred plus recognised BB A S DR INE R m MR
profits less recognised losses EREE 2,852,502 3,408,451
Less: Progress billings received and R B R WG IR
receivable (2,819,641) (3,359,054)
32,861 49,397
Gross amount due to customers EREFEHNIRESE
for contract work
Progress billings received and receivable B K B M B SR TR 275,628 =
Less: Contract costs incurred plus B BB A KRS DD
recognised profits less recognised B Rm R B R E
losses (274,441) =
1,187 =

All gross amounts due from/to customers for contract work are
expected to be recovered/settled within one year.

FRWmE,EEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
PBMRNEE (&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZEEASN - LABTTEITR)

18. INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES 18. MEHRK

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+tF
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt

Properties under development located in R EE— R EAEE
Hong Kong — medium term lease BRAPYE 1,156,537 992,697

Properties held for sales located in NREE - HERZY
Hong Kong — medium term lease BHEHEE ZME 837,608 =
1,994,145 992,697

(@ The amounts of properties under development are not @@ TERAVEEHETISHAMEBERZ
expected to be recovered within twelve months from the BT @A mdE o
end of the reporting period.

(b) At 31 March 2018, leasehold land included in the properties b)) RZE—NEF=ZA=+—H ZFEFY
under development amounted to $938,880,000 (2017: ¥B85 2 HE 1 EE A938,8380,000
$938,880,000). 7T ( ZZF—+ % : 938,880,0007T ) °

(c) The Group's inventories of properties were pledged against € AEEOVEFEDEEMAATGIR
bank loans, detail of which are set out in note 22(a). TEFR  BEFBEENHE20) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR (F)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTEITR)

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19, JBE I sk B L At JE ik JE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Trade receivables (note (1) FEUSER SR (BT aE0)) 200,737 56,542
Less: allowance for doubtful debts W RER B (406) (241)
200,331 56,301
Deposits, prepayments and L& TR FRIE I H fth FEUGRIR
other receivables (rote (i) (KaE0)) 53,691 55,050
Retention receivables (note (i) FEUL IR BB 7R I8 (KT EE()) 106,586 73,430
360,608 184,781
Note: Kiat -

(i) Except for an amount of $23,120,000 (2017: $23,887,000) as at 31
March 2018, which is expected to be recovered after one year, all
of the remaining balances are expected to be recovered within one
year.

(ii) Except for an amount of $72,004,000 (2017: $44,164,000) as at 31
March 2018, which is expected to be recovered after one year, all
of the remaining balances are expected to be recovered within one
year.
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M FRTREIN —F RSN - ST PR AR
R —FAE -

BRRZZBE-NF=ZA=Z+—-—BRH
72,004,0007T ( =& —+ 4 : 44,164,0007T )
M FIRTRHIN —FRE SN - R T B &8
BN —FAkE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR EE (E)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB RIEERRSN - ABTTEIR)

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables (net of

19, WSO sk B Ll JBE Wk JH (48
REFRAMAHARBEKER CNBRR

allowance for doubtful debts), based on invoice dates, is as R E) MERR DT T
follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F Tt F
$'000 $'000
F T
Less than 1 month LR —1E A 191,098 53,017
More than 1 month but less than 3 months BB —EAEBE LR =EA 8,895 2,432
More than 3 months but less than 6 months  #8i@ =1& A8 <@ A W 279 683
More than 6 months but less than 1 year BB EAE LR —F 59 169
200,331 56,301

At 31 March 2018, the Group's trade receivables of $406,000
(2017: $241,000) were individually determined to be impaired. The
individually impaired receivables related to customers who were in
financial difficulties and management assessed that only a portion
of the receivables is expected to be recovered. Accordingly,
the Group has recognised impairment losses during the year in
relation to the amounts which are considered to be irrecoverable.

R 2 IR E &R

FREREBARERE -

RZE-N\F=R=+—HB TEBER/H
406,0007T ( = F —+4F : 241,0007T ) &9 & U
SURLE © @B E
Wik P S B SRR AR - ik E 2
BT - TBEREA A 0 YRR AT T U@ -
it - WA AR E 2 FIE RSB ERA

B B FE

The movement of the impairment during the vyear, including both FAMBE (BEERNRERBEIS)H
specific and collective loss components, is as follows: yED)J (N
2018 2017
—E2-N\F T—EF
$'000 $'000
Fr T
At 1 April RmA—A 241 38
Impairment loss recognised (note 8(c)) R REEE (F15280c) 165 203
At 31 March R=A=+—H 406 241
gREEERERAT 20718 EERs 131



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR (F)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continuea) 19.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are as

JRE WAL IR sk B L fth R Wik 9 ()
At 5 (BI04 AR (B LB 0 P AR B K O B
BT :

follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Neither past due nor impaired RABMATRHRE 191,081 53017
Less than 1 month past due DR —1E A £ Ef 8,912 2,306
Over 1 month but less than Bid—E A E DR =EH R E
3 months past due 43 759
Over 3 months but less than BiE=EAELRSE AR E
6 months past due 236 50
Over 6 months but less than 1 year past due BB/~ @ A{E DR —FEE 59 169
I 2250 ¢ 3,284
200,331 56,301
Receivables which were neither past due nor impaired related to B A 180 BR IR R ORU(E Y B BRS04 B HA AR HE
a range of customers for whom there was no recent history of REEMNERR-

default.

Receivables which were past due but not impaired relate to
independent customers that have a good track record of trading
with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been significant change in credit quality
and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
ISR ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTSITR)

20. RESTRICTED AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND CASH

20. 3ZBR ) B 9K #0175 DA R Bl 4 I SR

AND BANK BALANCES T 17
2018 2017
—ZE-N\E —EF—+tF
$'000 $'000
Fx Fr
Cash and bank balance He RIRTTHETT 361,393 430,624
Fixed deposits TEHTF K 16,814 18,834
378207 449,458
Less: R
Pledged deposits (note (i) BHEIRER (H2E3) (60,080) (53,094)
Restricted deposits (note (i) PR B 73 (BT a3 (6,064) (6,064)
o (e6144)  (59,158)
Cash and bank balances as stated in REMBMRARANR S R
the consolidated statement of financial RITEGEMEARERERAN
position and cash and cash equivalents RekREEED
as stated in the consolidated cash flows
statement 312,063 390,300

Note:

The balances represent bank deposits pledged to secure banks

loans of the Group (see note 22(a)).

The balances represent security deposits placed in a bank according
to the terms of the tenancy agreement entered into with a tenant
by the Group. The Group has no absolute right and control over
the bank balance as the usage of the bank balance is specifically
restricted by the tenant under the tenancy agreement. The Group
can deduct the balance upon the breach of the tenancy agreement
by the tenant. If the Group makes a deduction from the deposit, the
tenant shall make up the difference within 14 days of demand.

BRABEFERITEREERAERRITE
REVEIR (R PHEE22())

ERAEFREREARRE—ZEPRTIH
HEBHERFARTOHRES - ARES
RITREF XA E R THEPABRRER S A
SR BT IRTT AT W AR AR RN R FE 4 - AR
SEARNZEPERBEHERIIRZAE
7o RSB FRPELING  ZBFPA
RERN+UBANHRERE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTEITR)

21.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

21, AR sk B 3L fth JE A5F 5% JH

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

$'000 $'000

Fr FiT

Trade payables FERTER 144,450 110,190
Other payables and accrued charges HEMENZRERETEA 56,402 36,345
Rental and other deposits (note (i) e kEaize (HaE0) 8,295 7,435
Receipts in advance TEUAR 2,465 3,613
Retention payables (note (iij) FERHRB & (K1) 96,690 60,589
308,302 218,172

Note: Biat -

(i) Except as disclosed in notes 21(ii) to (i) below, all of the trade and (i)
other payables are expected to be settled within one year.

(i) An amount of $7,174,000 (2017: $7,435,000) as at 31 March 2018 is (if)
expected to be settled after one year.

(i) Except for an amount of $53,394,000 (2017: $32,697,000) as at 31 (ifi)

March 2018, which is expected to be settled after one year, all of the
remaining balances are expected to be settled within one year.

The ageing analysis of the Group's trade payables, based on

BT EE2 1D Z (NP ERE S - A FEfT
RN EAMENKIBRRER —FRES -

RZZE—N\F=A=+—H%&%7,174,000
7T (=T —+4%F :7,435,0007T ) B FRIA FE 51
R—F&REEE-

RZE-NFZAZ+—HBRBBHER—F
1% 4555 M) 3R 1E53,394,00070 ( Z B —+ 4 :
32,697,0007T ) 1+ 84 TP AEERTE AR — &

£
R 4575 ©

RIBHZ BT EA KRB RN RO KRR D

invoice dates, is as follows: WoT:
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Less than 1 month LR—ERAR 133,812 74,159
More than 1 month but less than 3 months  #Bi@E—EAELR=EA 9,739 35,740
More than 3 months but less than 6 months ~ #8:8=1& A8 L% /<& A 858 122
More than 6 months but less than 1 year BRI ANEAEDR—F 41 137
More than 1 year HBid—F - 32
144,450 110,190
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
PBMRNEE (&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZEEASN - LABTTEITR)

22. BANK LOANS 22. HATEX
2018 2017
—E-NF —FT—tF
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Bank loans IRITER
- Secured —HFER 3,564,766 2,625,972
— Unsecured — | A 20,579 12,054
3,585,345 2,638,026
The bank loans were repayable as follows: IRITERBRI T FEERE
2018 2017
—E-NF —F—tF
$'000 $'000
F Tt
Within 1 year and included in —FRRIIARBEE
current liabilites 403,703 118,016
After 1 year and included in —FERRIANFERBEE:
non-current liabilities:
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFR 752,283 69,763
After 2 years but within 5 years WEZBRERFA 2,397,573 1,929,378
After 5 years AFi& 31,786 520,869
___3181642 2,520,010
3,585,345 2,638,026
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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22. BANK LOANS (Continued)

(@

]36 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

At 31 March 2018, the bank loans bear interest ranging from
2.64% t0 3.74% (2017: 2.09% to 3.69%) per annum and were
secured by the following assets:

22, SATEX (#£)

(@)

R-ZE—NF=A=+—H R17E
HHER RN F264%%E3.74% (= F
—+HF 1 2.09%ZE3.69%) I A TN HIE E
TEFELR -

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —E—tF

$'000 $'000

Fr Ft

Investment properties "EWE 3,627,300 3,586,600
Property, plant and equipment Y BB K& 248,704 253,897
Pledged deposits [REEEERER S 60,080 53,094
Available-for-sale securities A ERES 13,540 13,884
Inventories of properties WMEFE 1,994,145 992,697
Other assets HMmERE 60,941 45,966
6,004,710 4,946,138

In addition, at 31 March 2018, the banking facilities of the
Group were secured by the following:

- assignment of project proceeds, project insurance
and fire insurance policies for certain construction
contracts in relation to certain banking facilities
granted to the Group with maximum amount of
$415,000,000 (2017: $579,307,000);

- assignment of all rentals and all other moneys,
sales proceeds and insurance over the investment
properties of the Group in relation to certain bank
loans granted to the Group with carrying amount of
$2,404,725,000 (2017: $2,023,790,000); and

- share mortgages over the entire issued and paid-up
share capital of certain subsidiaries.

Certain of the Group's banking facilities are subject to the
fulfilment of covenants relating to certain ratios as are
commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants the
drawn down facilities would become repayable on demand.
The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these
covenants. As long as the Group complies these covenants,
it is considered that the respective drawn down facilities will
not be repaid on demand.

I RZFE-NF=ZA=+—HB &K
SERIRITRE JIATHITE B EER -

- EERATEEAHNIEEBMENR
H-EHEBREABRRERE XK
EEERETRTRE E&5
4 %8 /5415,000,0007T (ZF—+
£ 1 579,307,0007T ) :

- EEASEKREMENFAAR
© RETARIE - SBEMEREL
MR SAEBERE TRT
B HIRME A2,404,725,000
7T (== —+ £ :2,023,790,000
)&

- HETHWBARMEZHESHTR
BRI A B A £ AR

ARENETRITREANAETA
REERBLERNRH HWERHEER
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22. BANK LOANS (Continued)

(o)

(Continued)

During FY2017/18, the Group was in breach of a covenant
under loan agreements with a bank as the Group's gearing
ratio was higher than that required by the bank. Prior to
the end of the reporting period the Group had obtained a
written consent from the bank to waive the rights entitling
the bank to declare the relevant outstanding loan balance
immediately due and payable due to the breach of the
covenant. Accordingly the outstanding balances amounted
to $107,919,000 and $522,745,000 are classified as a current
and non-current liability as at 31 March 2018, respectively.

Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk
are set out in note 30(b).

23. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

22, SATEX (£)

(0)

(%&)

R201718FE B AR AEE 2 &
AEBEBEXESNIBITEE ~EEER
TE-—RITEINERBZEETZ
RFE -RBEBRAT AEBEREZ
RITEARE  MEZBITE EMER
MEMEBAREEEREHENETH
I RN -BAl - RZE—NEFE=
R=+—HKEEZ#%107,919,000
7T }2522,745,0007t 2 Bl D S AR E &
EREBAE-

AEBEBERBESRBNE —FF
15 & H I FE30(D) ©

23. e T H

2018 2017
—E-NEF —E—+tF
$'000 $'000
Fr F
Cash flow hedges: interest rate swaps WERMEBEHA - FXEEHE L 15,477 429
Represented by: B
Non-current assets EMENE E 15,821 571
Non-current liabilities EmEatE (344) (142)
15,477 429

The notional principal amounts of derivative financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were as follows:

RBERRKEENITESR T AN
FEATEBENT

2018 2017
—B-N\&E —E—+F

$'000 $'000

T T

Interest rate swaps (note 30(c)(1)) =4 B A4 (B 7730(00)) 1,645,943 89,851

Derivative financial assets/liabilities represent the amounts
the Group would receive/pay if the positions were closed
at the end of the reporting period respectively. Derivative
financial instruments that did not qualify for hedge
accounting and their corresponding changes in fair values
have been recognised in the profit or 10ss.

All derivative financial instruments qualified for hedge
accounting were deemed effective for cash flow hedge
purposes and no ineffective portion was recognised in profit
or loss for the FY 2017/18 and FY 2016/17.

(o)

©

MTESRMEE BEBEAEEMNR
EHRFREEURER,XHRIE - T
NEBEMETEEREENITE
TRTAREAFENHEZSHER
1B MR o

FIEMEERETREREH PEET
FRTEEM T AN AR RE AR S
e N2017/18 R 2016/17E E W3R
BEYE S HERNEE -
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24. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

@

]38 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

On 30 August 2017, the Group, through a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with
an independent third party to acquire the entire interests of
Market Rise Group, and the shareholder’s loans, at a cash
consideration of $814,017,000. Market Rise Group holds an
en-bloc residential building located at Hong Kong for sales
purposes. By analysing the inputs, process and output of the
company, the acquisition did not constitute an acquisition of
business and was accounted for as acquisition of assets. The
transaction was completed on 20 October 2017 and Market
Rise Group became subsidiaries of the Group accordingly.

The assets acquired and the liabilities recognised at the date
of acquisition were as follows:

24, 7 38 W Sl R R 2 ) O

@)

RIE—+FNA=+H REESE
BARRE—2EWBARE—F
BYE=FHA LB WEEEER
MeEHdREslBERER ReRER
814,017,0007T - FRE BT BN E B
W—EFENEELERRZ - BBADT
ANEEE A TR - U E T E
REBUWE MNEEWEBAR X5
ER-_E—tHF+A-tHZR FF
EEEmMKBEAERMOMBE AR -

REERESNEERERNE BN
T

$'000

F

Properties held for sales REEHEZME 814,017

Shareholder’s loans IR R E K (722,747)

91,276

Assignment of shareholder’s loans EZERRER 722,741

Net assets acquired I 2 FEE 814,017

Consideration on acquisition of subsidiaries W B AR < KB 814,017
Satisfied by: ¥

Cash B& 814,017

Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of
the acquisition of subsidiaries:

WENBLARELA 2R RREEE
DR R

$'000
T

Cash consideration paid ERNRERE

814,017
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24. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(0)

24, 75 08 WL S R R 2 ) i O E ()

Oon 7 June 2016, the Group, through a wholly-owned b)) RZZE—R"FRAALtH XAEEEB
subsidiary of the Company, entered into provisional ARAlE—2EMBRARIHE—%E
agreements with an independent third party to acquire VEZFEUGERS LERE
the entire interests of Eson Development Limited (“Eson”) 261,120,000t Uy BE T BR B R 5 IR A )
and Easton Development Limited (“Easton”), companies (R ERBEERBR AR ([E
principally holding office premises in Hong Kong for property ENeHERs ZSRAXTERE
investment purposes, at an aggregate cash consideration of NUREBNRAEYMEERYMERE
$261,120,000. By analysing the inputs, process and output B BRI MTARTMNEA  NIME
of the company, the acquisitions did not constitute an o R E TR E SN A B E
acquisition of business and was accounted for as acquisition KEARE - RHFERZTE—XFNA
of assets. The transaction was completed on 30 September —+HZEK AREKEEEMKARSE
2016 and Eson and Easton became subsidiaries of the Group R B R A -
accordingly.
The assets acquired and the liabilities recognised at the date RWERESHEERERNA RGN
of acquisition were as follows: ™

$'000

T
Investment properties (note 15) WEME (Hit15) 132,668
Building held for own use (note 15) BRI (#iF15) 132,669
Deferred tax liabilities (note 9(c)(ii) REFR B EE (B EAC)i)) (4,217)
Net assets acquired Wiz FEE 261,120
Consideration on acquisition of subsidiaries WEEH B AR 2 KB 261,120
Satisfied by: XA
Cash e 261,120

Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of
the acquisition of subsidiaries:

WENBRARELEZRERREEE
Wi AR

$'000
Tt

Cash consideration paid

ENRERE

261,120
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25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. AR
2018 2017
ZE-\E§ T+ E
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
RAEE t8 BROE G 8
‘000 $'000 '000 $'000
TR Tr T T
Authorised: EE

Ordinary shares of $0.01 each BREBITHEBR 10,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: EZER CETRAR:
At 1 April REA—H 645,246 6,452 586,588 5,866

Issuance of new shares under the bonus REARETMETZ
issues (note (j) and (i) s (O Ra) 64,525 646 58,658 586
At 31 March R=A=+—-H 709,771 7,098 645,246 6,452

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

]4 0 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continuea)

Note:

0]

(ii)

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 28 July 2016, bonus shares were
issued to Shareholders whose names appeared on the register of
members of the Company on 8 August 2016 (which was postponed
from 5 August 2016 pursuant to the Company’s announcement
dated 1 August 2016), the record date, on the basis of one new
share credited as fully paid for every ten shares held.

On 16 August 2016, an amount of $586,588 standing to the credit
of the share premium account was applied in paying up in full
58,658,774 ordinary shares of $0.01 each which were allotted and
issued as fully paid to Shareholders who were entitled to those
bonus shares.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 26 July 2017, bonus shares were
issued to Shareholders whose names appeared on the register of
members of the Company on 3 August 2017, the record date, on the
basis of one new share credited as fully paid for every ten shares
held.

On 11 August 2017, an amount of $645,247 standing to the credit
of the share premium account was applied in paying up in full
64,524,652 ordinary shares of $0.01 each which were allotted and
issued as fully paid to Shareholders who were entitled to those
bonus shares.

25. A ()

BT
(i)

(if)

EPREBZERER LT 201718 EERS

BEARNIR-_ZT—X"ELA-_+N\HE
THRRBFAS LBRBMTRREER
RZZF—XR"ENANB (ZBEBH) (RIE
KRB ZE—RNENA—HZREFTRE
AR —A"E\ARATEEE_"Z
—~NENANR)BFNAR R BRI
RERAN  EELTIFE TRROATER
R—RARIEBROFARD o

RZZ—RFNA+RE BROBERASE
586,588 7T ) #E AR AR A #IE 58,658, 774X Ak
E{EO.01 T H) B - 2 8Ue Bl Jh i
BREBETTEREIRXAABR

REBARAR_F—tFELA-_F+RAE
TORRBFAS LBENEBRAER N
“Z2—tFN\A=R (KHAH) BIIKR
AIRCRAMO R RERAR  BELTRA
TR AR £ AT R X — IR A BRIME SR B0 3T

Bt o

R-Z—tFNA+—B BROEERSH
645,247 TLEVAE BR R B4 64,524,6520% & %
E{E0.01TH) BB - 2 E /R Bk o
BRBTTEREBIRXABRABR
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26. RESERVES
(@) The Group
Details of the movements in the Group’s reserves are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
The natures and purposes of reserves within equity are as
follows:

(i)  Share premium
The share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and may be
applied by the Company subject to the provisions, if
any, of its memorandum and articles of association
in paying distributions or dividends to equity
shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account
unless immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business.

(ii)  Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net
change in the fair value of available-for-sale securities
held at the end of the reporting period and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 4(d).

(iij) Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion
of the cumulative net change in the fair value of the
hedging instruments used in cash flow hedges pending
subsequent recognition of the hedged cash flow in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
A(f).

]42 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18
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26. RESERVES (Continued) 26. Flifl (&)
(b) The Company (b) AATH
Share Hedging Retained
premium reserve profits Total
B aE papal =10 REER @t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tr Tr Tr Tr
At 1 April 2016 RZE-RE@A-H 99.871 = 71,313 171,184
Profit and total comprehensive FERFIRZEKE
income for the year = = 158,497 158,497
Effective portion of changes in FRERANEPTA
fair value of hedging instruments AFEESNERLS
recognised during the year, MRBIE
net of tax - 477 - 477
Issuance of new shares under the REARETMETIHRN
bonus issues (rote 25 (j) (Hz250) (586) - - (586)
Interim dividend declared and paid BERRIAAEEM
in respect of the current year RERE (HiH156)
(note 13@) - = (25,810) (25,810)
Final dividend approved in respect of ~ #tAB L —FEHNRBRE
the previous year (ote 13(b)) Wi3x ) - - (23,464) (23,464)
At 31 March 2017 H-g-tE=A=t-4 99,285 477 180,53 280,298
Profit and total comprehensive FE&TR2ENE
income for the year - - 48,556 48,556
Effective portion of changes in fair FHRERRNEHATA
value of hedging instruments AFEEPNERLS
recognised during the year, MNBREE
net of tax - 165 - 165
Issuance of new shares under the REARBITMET RN
bonus issues (note 25 (ij) (Ha250) (646) - - (646)
Interim dividend declared and paid BERRIAAEEN
in respect of the current year RERE (Hi136)
(note 13@) = = (28,391) (28,391)
Final dividend approved in respect of ~ #tA&B L —FERRIEKE
the previous year (note 13() (B1310)) - - (25,810) (25,810)
At 31 March 2018 R-B-NF=A=t-H 98,639 642 174,891 274,172

REMSHES R EDEARERRER
ERAMEAAGE ARFAR_-F
—NF=ZA=+—RHAHSKTAR
)4 25 R R A 1+ 5 48 BR 72273,530,000
T (ZZF—+4:279,821,0007T) °

At 31 March 2018, the aggregate amount of the Company's
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders
of the Company, as calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association, was $273,530,000
(2017: $279,821,000).
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27. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 27. ¥ w) BB IR DL %
POSITION

2018 2017
—ZE-N\E —ET—+tF
Notes $'000 $'000
it T Tt
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI BB L& 174 202
Investment in subsidiaries HEKH B A A - S
Loan to subsidiaries BEXRTHBRA 476,458 478,958
Deferred tax assets R IEEE 836 533
Derivative financial instruments PTEeERmT A 769 571
o 418237 480,264
Current assets RBEE
Loan to a subsidiary BERTHEBEAR 2,500 2,500
Prepayment and other receivables TR BN H A B R IE 1,285,513 491,336
Pledged deposits EHERER 2,000 2,000
Cash and bank balances B RIBITET 49,446 2,247
1339459 498,083 _
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H e IR 146,426 44,954
Bank loans IRITER 172,143 29,143
Loan from a subsidiary BB A BIfE K 2,500 2,500
o 321,069 76,597
Net current assets REBEEFE ~_10183%0 421,486
Total assets less current liabilities ZEERTREBAR 1,496,627 901,750
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27. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 27. BB FMBRIE (#2)
POSITION (Continuea)

2018 2017
—ZE-N\E —EF—+tF
Notes $'000 $'000
it Fx Fr
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank loan RITEK 710,357 37,500
Loans from subsidiaries B B8 R RfE 3K 505,000 577,500
__ 1215357 615000
NET ASSETS EEFE 281,270 286,750
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARGEE
Share capital fi& A 25 7,098 6,452
Reserves ] 26(b) 274,172 280,298
TOTAL EQUITY RS 281,270 286,750
On behalf of the Board REEES
Chan Hung Ming Lau Chi wah
BR 7L BA ZEE
Director Director
EZE EE
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28. SUBSIDIARIES 28. K& 2w
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries LTI ERBEEATERNEENES
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the BERBEZHBRARNFEE - BREEFIE
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise SN RBRHEREEBR-
stated.

Proportion of ownership interest

BEERRILY
Place of Particulars of Group's
incorporation issued and effective Held by the Held by a
Name of subsidiary and business paid-up capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activity
BRTR x5H M

WEAREE BIUREEE EHERARE BEEER MALQARE ARARE FEXEK
Grand Tech Construction Hong Kong $5,000,000 100% = 100%  Construction

Company Limited
ERREERAR Bk 5,000,0007T 100% - 100% RE
Wellford Properties Limited Hong Kong $100 100% - 100%  Property investment
BEEEERAR BE 1007T 100% - 00% MERE
Winning Tech Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property investment
EEIBERAR A 17T 100% - 100% WERE
Top Regent Investments Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property holding
REREBRAR 20 17T 100% - 0% WESE
Dragon Mount Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
EEFEARAR BE 17T 100% - 100% MEEE
Eson Development Limited Hong Kong $100 100% - 100%  Property holding
ERERERAA 20 1007 100% - 0% WESE
Easton Development Limited Hong Kong $100 100% - 100%  Property investment
REEERARAA Bk 1007c 100% - 100% MERE
Tech Towers Data Centre Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Provision of data

Services Limited centre premises and

facilities
EREABETLERAR BE 17 100% - 100%  RESELGHMN
B

Able Business Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
BEEREARAA 20 17T 100% - 0% MEEE
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29. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 29. & AE B A by

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in
order to fund its construction business and property development
and investment projects, provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements.

As at 31 Mar 2018, the Group's current ratio (defined as current
assets divided by current liabilities) was 3.79 times (2017: 4.89
times). The Group's gearing ratio (defined as total interest-bearing
borrowings divided by shareholders’ equity) was approximately
129.7% (2017 approximately 100.1%).

AEBEREANEE R BRARERNEER
BIRENREN URREENBEEBIAR
MEZRNRERBRHES RRREH
b ) 22 48 B TR A 0 N M 5 A I A R R £
BB AN RS LARE B AR o

AEEBEBEERRT REREEEARRE
PAFE$R /= IR 121 57 ( mJ BE A BE B = MY B KK
) EREE AR KA I BE S (R IR 2 A
BiGF - YRBKERARNEHABRER
Rig e

AR A A B A AU RS AN
M E AR EFIR -

R=F-NE=A=+—F AEEHEY
bk (RBAEREDAE) AT (ZF
— L 4890)  AREME R AL E
(388 BAan s RS 40129.7% (—F
—+F:£9100.1%) °
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s exposure
to these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described
below.

(@) Credit risk
The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
deposits, financial derivative instruments and trade and
other receivables. The Group maintains a defined credit
policy and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis.

Cash is deposited with financial institutions with sound
credit ratings and the Group has exposure limit to any
single financial institution. Transactions involving derivative
financial instruments are with counterparties of sound
credit standing. Given their high credit ratings, management
does not expect any of these financial institutions and
counterparties will fail to meet their obligations.

Before entering into construction contracts, assessment
of the potential customers is carried out as part of the
acceptance procedures for the new contracts.

Regular review and follow-up actions are carried out on
overdue amounts of trade receivables from customers
which enable management to assess their recoverability and
to minimise the exposure to credit risk. Trade receivables are
due within 0-30 days from the date of billing. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

In respect of rental income from leasing properties, rental
deposits are held to cover potential exposure to credit
risk. An ageing analysis of the receivables is prepared on a
regular basis and is closely monitored to minimise any credit
risk associated with these receivables. Adequate impairment
losses have been made for estimated irrecoverable
amounts.
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has significant
concentration of credit risk in a few customers. In view
of their credit standing, good payment record and long
established relationships with the Group, management does
not consider the Group’s credit risk to be significant. At the
end of the reporting period, 81.9% and 94.0% (2017: 7.2%
and 97.4%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Group as
set out in note 32, the Group does not provide any other
guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of these
financial guarantees at the end of the reporting period is
disclosed in note 32.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other
receivables are set out in note 19.

Liquidity risk

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the raising of
loans to cover the expected cash demands, subject to
approval by the Company’s board of directors. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed funding lines from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR (F)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTEITR)

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b)  Liquidity risk (Continued)
The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

30.

S 5 D B A BE % i TR A P

(%)

(b) ENE SR (F)
TRANAEEZERBERREH
RETAOBEBER - WIHRBEE LR
MBERERE (BRERREHOMNE (18
F R AREREIROIRITHE) G
R BN RAKE AR E R
MRFEHIMSH

The Group AERE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHREBRER
More than  More than
Within 1 year but 2 years but
1yearor lessthan  lessthan More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
- -FENLE WENL
REX EmMENR BRENR  BENL @t REE
$000 $000 $000 $'000 $'000 $000
Tr Tr T T Fr Tr
At 31 March 2018 “E-N\EZA=t-H
Bank loans RITER 486,609 545,754 2,884,562 37,675 3,954,600 3,585,345
Trade payables, other payables and  JER B30  EMERFER
accrued charges EHER 200,852 - - - 200,852 200,852
Retention payables ERRES 43,296 25,028 24,997 3,369 96,690 96,690
730,757 570,782 2,909,559 41,044 4,252,142 3,882,287
Derivative settled net: RIBEENTETER:
Interest rate swap contracts FlEEEBHAY - 2,531 2,839 - 5,370 344
At 31 March 2017 RZB-tF=A=+-H
Bank loans FITER 184,092 133,707 2,109,635 527498 2954932 2,638,026
Trade payables, other payables and ~ JER B30 EMERFUER
accrued charges EHER 146,535 - - - 146,535 146,535
Retention payables EfRES 27,892 27,89 4,801 = 60,589 60,589
358,519 161,603 2,114,436 527,498 3,162,056 2,845,150
Derivative settled net: REBEENTELER:
Interest rate swap contracts FEEEBHAY 614 614 667 - 1,895 142
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
ISR ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the
impact of rates changes on interest-bearing borrowings
which predominantly bear floating interest rates. The Group
monitors closely its interest rate exposure and the level of
fixed rate and floating rate borrowing and considers hedging
interest rate exposure should the need arise. The Group's
interest rate profile as monitored by management is set out
in (ii) below.

The interest rates and terms of repayment of interest-
bearing borrowings of the Group are disclosed in note 22 to
the financial statements.

() Hedging

Interest rate swaps, denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
have been entered into to achieve an appropriate
mix of fixed and floating rate (mainly Hong Kong
Interbank Offer Rate) exposure consistent with the
Group's policy. At 31 March 2018, the Group had
interest rate swaps with a notional contract amount
of $1,645,943,000 (2017: $89,851,000), which it has
designated as cash flow hedges of the interest rate
risk inherent in its variable rate bank borrowings. At
31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group did not have any
interest rate swaps which were not designated as cash
flow hedging instruments.

The swaps mature over the next five years and have
fixed swap rates ranging from 1.30% to 2.63% (2017:
1.30% to 1.80%). The net fair value of swaps contracts
entered into by the Group at 31 March 2018 was
$15,478,000 (2017: $429,000). These amounts are
recognised as derivative financial instruments (see
note 23).

30. SV e B A PR % <k T L P

(%)

(c)

EREBZERER DT 2017/18 FERS

A 2R Ja i

AEEEG B ERNFRESHZEM
EEEMXER - MZETSEREER
FBEEE - AKBEE BT EAE
e B 1) 2 L e A B TE B B B AR AR
K WK BB BTN R R
e BIEEMEIENARENRERE
RT3 (i)

AE BT BERAF R R ERGRRR
A 75 AR P S 224 B o

(i)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
PSR (4F)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES  30. A # BB 4% B ) 4 il T 2 2 P
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (%)
(c) Interest rate risk (Continued) (c) FIREBE (&)
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FEHEE
The following table details the interest rate profile of Ti%ﬁiﬁlJE+&?biﬁfﬁé\?ﬁ§¥T
the Group’s net borrowings (as defined above) at the HTEMFEEHEHONTE
end of the reporting period, after taking into account % AEBERREBHRNERF
the effect of interest rate swaps designated as cash B(EEALOHNBEREBR(R
flow hedging instruments (see (i) above). £E3()) -
2018 2017
“E-N\% “E—+F
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
ERA= 8 BRFx E
% $'000 % $'000
Fr T
Net fixed rate borrowings: EEMEHFHE:
Bank loans RITER 3.47 80,000 294 89,643
Variable rate borrowings:  EZEEX:
Bank loans RITER 302 3505345 258 2548383
Total net borrowings BENFE 3,585,345 2,638,026
Net fixed rate borrowings as & BMETUREE(L
a percentage of total net BEFEENED
borrowings 2.23% 3.40%
(iii)  Sensitivity analysis (iii) SEE ST
At 31 March 2018, it is estimated that a general R-ZEBE—NE=A=+—8'&
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, STA R EF R A100ME E

with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group's profit after taxation
and total equity by approximately $29,270,000 (2017:
$21,279,000), in response to the general increase/
decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for
borrowing made by the Group which were not hedged
by interest rate swap contracts. The analysis has been
performed on the same basis for the year 2017.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(d)  Foreign currency risk
The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency
risk as substantially all of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

(e) Fair value measurement
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

value
Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

30. o5 B A B < i Ly P A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
PSR (4F)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTEITR)

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (Continued)
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

(i)

value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group

30. S5 I A B M < ik T HL A P

(%)
) ~VERHE (&)
(i) BEAFEIABHZHBEERAE
(&)
AFEFR(E)
FEm

Fair value measurement categorised into

AV EHEDES
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AYE £ =4 =
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Tr Tr Tr
As at 31 March 2018 R-ZE-N\E=ZA=+-H
Assets EE
Available-for-sale securities RHEER 13,540 - 13,540 -
Derivative financial MTEERTA-
instruments - Interest rate MEBEEL
swaps 15,821 - 15,821 =
Liabilities 8
Derivative financial MTESRTA-
instruments - Interest rate MEBEAL
swaps 344 - 344 .
As at 31 March 2017 R-ZE-tE=f=+-H
Assets EE
Available-for-sale securities RtHEE 13,884 - 13,884 =
Derivative financial fTEEMTA-
instruments - Interest rate MEmHE A 4
swaps 571 - 571 -
Liabilities 8%
Derivative financial TEEMTR-
instruments - Interest rate MEmE A4
swaps 142 - 142 -
During the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, BE_ZT-N\FR-ZE—+F=

there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2,
or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group's policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which

they occurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)
(e) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Valuation technigues and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of available-for-sale securities is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period without any deduction for transaction costs.

The fair values of interest rate swaps are determined
by applying the discounted cash flow method. It is
calculated as the present value of the estimated
future cash flow that the Group would receive or pay
of each swap at the each payment date based on the
observable yield curves.

Fair values of financial instruments carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's and the
Company’s financial instruments carried at cost or
amortised cost are not materially different from their
fair values as at 31 March 2018 and 2017.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIFEERSN - LABTTEITR)

31. COMMITMENTS 31. A&
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2018 not provided RZEBE—NF=ZA=+—BXBIEEREH®
for in the Group's financial statements were as follows: REBEPBHmERBHEHERAENT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
$'000 $'000
T Fi
Commitments for; A
Development of investment property BRINEME 72,628 19,986
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B A A 378,000 =
450,628 19,986
32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 32. AR
At 31 March 2018, the Company did not have any contingent RZE—NF=ZA=1+—8 ' ARBLET
liabilities. Ak RBaE-
At 31 March 2017, the Company had contingent liabilities in RZE—+tF=A=+—H XRFIHEH
respect of performance bonds to guarantee for the due and BRASBESR —RMBARIBITAARE
proper performance of the obligations undertaken by one of the £ 0 3 B 4A9R & M3 2R & £F /229,307,000
Group's subsidiaries amounting to HK$29,307,000. BT o
33. NOTES SUPPORTING CASH FLOW STATEMENT 33. XFBEWERWMEE

(@)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (@) BEeKkBE&EEDBE:
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+F
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Cash available on demand BERRASHHARE 312,063 390,300
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)

PBMRNEE (&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZEEASN - LABTTEITR)

33. NOTES SUPPORTING CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities during the year ended 31 March 2018:

33. XRHBLWERMMEE (&)

(b)) BMEFHREE_ZF—/)\E=AH
= H kAR I I A 2k A R AR

MR T -

Bank loan

RITER

(note 22)

(Kia22)

$'000

Tt

At 1 April 2017 R-EBE—+tFEMNA—H 2,638,026
Changes from cash flows: WEM

Proceeds from new bank loans RITERFBRIA 1,995,794

Repayment of bank loans EEBITER (1,048,475)

Total changes from financing cash flows MERSRENE 947,319

At 31 March 2018 R=-Z-N\F=ZHA=+—H 3,585,345
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
PSR (4F)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERBON - LA TTER)

34. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@
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In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in this financial statements, the Group did not

34. EABEB ARG

@)

FRAMBHRREMIBOARENRS
KRN RERERAFRRBRILE

enter into any material related party transaction during the MERNBELTRZS-
year.
Remuneration of key management personnel, including b FZEBABNFI(BREENESH
amounts paid to the directors as disclosed in note 11 SR RMFNEE mE THR= M
and certain of the highest paid employees and senior EERSAEERERNH MBI FE12
management as disclosed in note 12, is as follow: WEEMT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZE—+F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Short-term employee benefits MEEEREN 16,943 12,559
Post-employment benefits RREF] 144 132
17,087 12,691

The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration
of directors and chief executives of the Company
constitute connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. However, these transactions are
exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration
of key management personnel (other than directors
and chief executives) of the Company did not fall under
the definition of connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

BRANBES THAERT M EE
R K EMBRAFEUAEZERATLN
B 5 o AT AR IR LT AR BIZE14A
ZE ELERFARERE  AERBL
AR B LR E o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continueq)
MR (F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BREFRIZERRAN - LABTTEIR)

35. NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

36.

37.

@)

(0)

On 15 December 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party to acquire the entire equity
interests of Excel One Group, and the shareholder’s loans, at
a consideration of $420,000,000 adjusted by the net current
assets value of Excel One Group on the completion date.
A deposit of $42,000,000 paid had been included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2018 as deposit for acquisition of subsidiaries. The principal
asset of Excel One Group is an investment property located
at shop in the basement floor, shop A and shop C on the
ground floor, and shop A on the 1st floor of N0.39 Chatham
Road South, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

On 13 April 2018, the remaining consideration of
approximately $375,007,000 had been settled and the
acquisition was completed accordingly.

After the end of the reporting period, the Directors proposed
a final dividend. Further details are disclosed in note 13(a).

IMMEDIATE PARENT AND ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

At 31 March 2018, the directors consider the immediate parent
and ultimate holding company of the Group to be Chan HM
Company Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI. This entity
does not produce financial statements available for public use.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the Board of Directors on 11 June 2018.

35.

36.

37.

e o 9 R 1% Ik R 8 35 0R
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42,000,000cEsF AR ZZE—NE=A
=T BZBREPBRARIESKE
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AR B -
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP

rEBREREUFER

The particular of the Group's investment properties and buildings held

for own use are as follows:

AEENRENERBRAMEZHBNOT

Location Use Tenure

i Bk A® FHHA

Investment properties

iTech Tower | Data centre use Medium-term lease

No. 28 Pak Tin Par Street
Tsuen Wan

New Territories, Hong Kong
EBIR

B B #5285k

iTech Tower 2

No. 56 Ta Chuen Ping Street
Kwai Chung

New Territories, Hong Kong
BEETR

By

FTHEIT 75655

22/F, No. 39 Chatham Road South
Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon, Hong Kong
BENBESR D IRR R B RE395R22E

Buildings held for own use
=0k /ES

18/F, No. 39 Chatham Road South
Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon, Hong Kong

BB NEER D IR R E FE395% 1818

19/F, No. 39 Chatham Road South
Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon, Hong Kong
BBENFERD R E 3R 196
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ZUERH L

Data centre use
2z

Office premises
E /NSy ES

Office premises

WAZME

Office premises
WAEWE

REIER

Medium-term lease
FR AR 22

Medium-term lease
R HAE 2

Medium-term lease

REER

Medium-term lease
R HAE 2
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